

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

How College Faculty Adapted Instruction to Online Learning During the COVID-19

Rosie Ah Chee-Toeava Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Education Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Education

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Rosie Ah Chee-Toeava

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Lynne Orr, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty Dr. Brenda Kennedy, Committee Member, Education Faculty Dr. Tammy Hoffman, University Reviewer, Education Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2022

Abstract

How College Faculty Adapted Instruction to Online Learning During the COVID-19

Pandemic

by

Rosie Ah Chee-Toeava

MS, Walden University, 2013

BA, University of Hawaii at Hilo, 2011

Project Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Education

Walden University

November 2022

Abstract

The problem addressed in this study was the challenges of the transition of courses to online platforms during the COVID-19 pandemic. The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to collect and examine the experiences of XYZ (pseudonym) faculty who transitioned their courses to online learning platforms in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. Piaget's constructivism was the conceptual framework of this project. The research questions examined the experiences of college faculty members about previous knowledge that contributed to the transition of courses using online platforms. Ten research participants were selected using purposeful sampling while conducting semistructured interviews. Content thematic analysis was employed for data analysis with findings to answer the research questions, revealing six major themes: (a) unprepared for online instruction; (b) lack of support and training; (c) faculty attitudes towards Moodle; (d) student issues; (e) internet connectivity, accessibility to technology, and technical support; and (f) accessible information. A 3-day professional development was created to train faculty on how to effectively transition to online instructions using Moodle and online pedagogy. The findings from this study can contribute to positive social change for educators and administrators to understand the barriers that impacts the performance of educators transitioning to online instructions in response to a future crisis.

How College Faculty Adapted Instruction to Online Learning During the COVID-19

Pandemic

by

Rosie Ah Chee-Toeava

MS, Walden University, 2013

BA, University of Hawaii at Hilo, 2011

Project Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Education

Walden University

November 2022

Dedication

This study is dedicated to my pepe, husband, and eternal companion, Ignosy "Iki" Toeava. Thank you for being my source of motivation and anchor of hope during times of discouragement and uncertainty. We have both shared the speed bumps and smooth lanes of my doctoral journey with your words of encouragement and dinner dates. Second dedication, to my parents Maselino Afoa and Losalia Ah Chee, for their endless prayers and unconditional love as a reminder that anything is possible with God's guidance. Lastly, I dedicate this study to my children, my daughter Sherneil Toeava and son Tyrael Toeava. I hope my accomplishment will inspire you both to reach your maximum potential in life.

Acknowledgments

First and foremost, all glory to our Heavenly Father for the gift of life, his love, and guidance throughout this doctoral journey. To my committee members, chairperson and mentor, Dr. Lynne Orr, second member Dr. Brenda Kennedy, and University Research Reviewer, Dr. Tammy Hoffman. Thank you for your guidance, support, and areas of expertise; without it, I would have not completed this study.

I would like to acknowledge my in-law family for providing care to my son while I attended to my writing and studies. I am truly blessed to be part of the Toeava family. To my family, thank you for providing and attending to my small family and personal needs. Special thank you to Inugā Tea family and Dr. Reupena Lesā for the constant reminder to push this study to the finish line.

List of	Tables	.v
List of	f Figures	vi
Section 1:	The Problem	.1
Introdu	uction	.1
The Lo	ocal Problem	.3
Ration	ale	.5
Definit	tion of Terms	.5
Signifi	icance of the Study	.6
Resear	rch Questions	.7
Review	w of the Literature	.8
Co	onceptual Framework	9
His	storical Perspective of Online Learning1	0
Ty	pes of Distance Learning 1	1
Ch	allenges to Online Learning for Faculty1	2
Be	enefits to Online Learning 1	4
Be	liefs and Attitudes of Educators Transitioning to Online Learning 1	6
Pre	eparedness and Readiness 1	6
Co	ontent Barriers 1	7
Ар	oplying MOODLE as a Learning Management Tool 1	8
Otl	her Learning Management Tools 1	8
Implic	ations1	8
Summ	nary1	9

Table of Contents

Section 2: The Methodology	21
Research Design and Approach	21
Rationale for Research Method Alternatives	22
Research Questions	22
Research Method	23
Gaining Access to Participants	23
Participation Selection	25
Data Collection	25
Data Analysis Process	26
Data Analysis Results	27
Narrative Report	31
Review of the Findings	35
Findings Related to the Conceptual Framework	36
Findings Related to the Literature	36
Project Deliverable	38
Summary	38
Section 3: The Project	39
Introduction	39
Rationale	39
Review of the Literature	40
Professional Development	41
Collaboration	41
Effective Professional Development	42

Transformational Learning Theory	43
Online Course Development	
Online Instructional Strategies	
Online Assessments	45
Project Description	45
Needed Resources	
Existing Support	
Potential Barriers	
Roles and Responsibilities	
Implementation and Timetable	47
Project Evaluation Plan	51
Project Implications	53
Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions	54
Project Strengths and Limitations	54
Recommendations for Alternative Approaches	54
Scholarship, Project Development and Evaluation, and Leadership and	
Change	55
Reflection on Importance of the Work	55
Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research	56
Conclusion	56
References	58
Appendix A: The Project	76
Appendix B: The PowerPoint	79

Appendix C: The Activity Sheets	96
Appendix D: Project Evaluation	100

List of Tables

Table 1. Scheduled Interview	27
Table 2. Research Questions and Themes	29
Table 3. Themes, Codes, and Quotations	30

List of Figures

Figure 1	. 3-Day	Professional Developmen	nt Timetable	49
----------	---------	-------------------------	--------------	----

Section 1: The Problem

Introduction

In the middle of the college spring term of 2020, higher learning institutions abruptly closed campuses, discontinued face-to-face instruction, and transitioned to emergency remote teaching in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. The World Health Organization (WHO, 2021) COVID-19 is also known as the Coronavirus, an infectious and contagious respiratory illness transmitted through droplets of saliva and nasal discharge. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC, 2021) mandated social distancing and facial masks as preventive measures to contain the spread of the virus. Based on the CDC recommendations and the local government, learning institutions were forced to transition to remote teaching and learning. Online learning was not only introduced to traditional learning institutions, it was immediately implemented with and without adequate training of educators to conduct instruction online due to COVID-19 pandemic. This study was conducted at a 2-year college located in American Samoa. American Samoa is located in the south-central Pacific Ocean, 1,600 miles northeast of New Zealand and 2,200 miles southwest of Hawaii (Encyclopedia Britannica, 2021).

The classroom teaching was no longer an option to continue instruction for educational institutions during the pandemic, forcing colleges and universities to switch to online instruction immediately to avoid disconnection of instruction. However, the transition came with its own obstacles for educators. Prior to COVID-19, some colleges and universities did not offer online courses or hybrid/blended learning courses; therefore, challenges surfaced for educators who were not tech-savvy and who had no experience in conducting instructions online. This lack of experience in online pedagogy and virtual teaching experience contributed to the quality of learning outcomes. Alolaywi (2021) mentioned that open communication brings forth a better understanding of the learners' challenges.

Educators were unprepared for the transition to online instruction because it was an emergency remote learning in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. Gómez-Rey et al. (2021) reported that the majority of educators from traditional universities did not offer specialized training in distance or online education, thus prompting educators to continue instruction using online platforms such as Google Classroom, Blackboard, and Moodle. The transition to online learning with unprepared educators to teach effectively in a virtual learning environment raised concerns about the quality of instruction delivered online. The online virtual learning environment impacts students learning. Since online learning is virtual learning environment students are missing the physical presence of an educator and other students.

The rapid growth of published literature continued about how COVID-19 impacted the education system in the United States and other countries. All areas of content, discipline, and trade were overturned by the pandemic using only online platforms to carry out the current curriculum, instruction, and assessments. In current literature, a gap was identified: Many of the studies were conducted from colleges and universities in the United States, excluding United States territories such as American Samoa. Being able to conduct a study with educators from a Pacific Island reflects the challenges and advantages of how a different target audience responded to the transition to online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic. This gap was addressed in the project study.

The psychological and socioeconomic impact on educators and students were risk factors for their readiness to achieve high-quality online learning. To achieve effectiveness in transitioning from face-to-face learning to online instruction, educators used different platforms for online learning and software to enhance student interaction between learners and educators. The challenges and opportunities that came with the pandemic included the introduction of online learning to traditional learning institutions, and all educators have now gained online teaching experience. However, there is little literature specifically on educators from the Pacific Islands such as American Samoa; the majority of the literature has focused on educators from international countries such as Turkey, Saudi Arabia, and the United States.

The Local Problem

The local problem was reported by the president of XYZ (pseudonym) college, who shared that educators were unprepared with the sudden change in methods of instruction during the COVID-19 pandemic. XYZ educators were unprepared and had inadequate training to facilitate learning using Moodle as the remote learning platform. In the middle of the spring 2020 semester, all courses at XYZ were taught using Moodle as a learning management tool in order for instruction to continue in the midst of the COVID-19 pandemic. The COVID-19 pandemic forced colleges and universities to transition from face-to-face instruction to online learning or instruction. The COVID-19 pandemic also impacted higher learning institutions to temporarily shut down their campuses and transition from face-to-face instruction to emergency remote learning. Some were given scant training on how to navigate various online learning management systems (LMS) such as a modular object-oriented dynamic learning environment (Moodle), Google Classroom, Blackboard, as well as video lecture devices, Zoom, and Skype.

Debes (2021) commented that the COVID-19 pandemic came with its own challenges and obstacles, primarily decreasing the effectiveness of teaching due to educators' poor adaption and use of technologies to deliver the curriculum. In addition, Markova (2021) stated that there was a lack of remote teaching experience prior to the pandemic. Colclasure et al. (2021) educators with no online teaching experience felt isolated from the virtual learning environment. Moreover, Noor et al. (2020) suggested that the issues with online connection were prevalent. Finally, Gómez-Rey et al. (2021) commented that instructors and professors from traditional colleges and universities were not provided specialized training in distance and online learning.

The research problem addressed in this study was the ineffective transition of courses to online platforms during the COVID-19 pandemic. The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to collect and examine the experiences of XYZ faculty who transitioned their courses to online learning platforms in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. The president of XYZ college reported that the transition to online instruction was challenging to faculty members and the institution. Faculty members from the study site expressed frustration and challenges in transitioning and adapting to online learning

using Moodle due to the lack of training and resources to support the continuation of instruction online.

Rationale

The COVID-19 pandemic induced online learning as an alternative to avoid discontinuation of instruction. Educators from all levels with and without online teaching experience were placed in a foreign learning environment along with students to independently adapt to online teaching and learning. The quality of curriculum, instruction, and assessment questioned the credibility and integrity of educators, for example, uploading course materials and assignments for students to review and complete assignments within a set timeline. Therefore, I sought to explore and understand the XYZ faculty experiences transitioning to online instruction using Moodle during the COVID-19 pandemic. The rationale for this project study was to collect and analyze the experiences of educators from XYZ college while conducting online instruction. The results can inform areas for improvement and resources needed for XYZ educators to better prepare for an unforeseen crisis aside from pandemics. The results revealed adequate support and resources and identified areas of improvement and allowed me to design applicable training to better prepare faculty members for future crises aside from pandemics. Early exposure to Moodle can be implemented into blending learning as a continued practice for traditional institutions to familiarize both educators and students.

Definition of Terms

Specific terms associated with this research are described and cited as follows.

Asynchronous learning: Students review course materials and proceed at their own pace (Ogbonna et al., 2019).

COVID-19 pandemic: Also known as Coronavirus, an infectious and contagious respiratory illness transmitted through droplets of saliva and nasal discharge (WHO, 2021).

Emergency remote teaching: A temporary solution to change method of instruction to online due to crisis (Bozkurt & Sharma, 2020).

Face-to-face learning: Learning environment that requires the physical presence of both the learner and teacher (Mbandlwa, 2021).

Modular object-oriented dynamic learning environment (MOODLE): A course management system designed to assist faculty create quality online courses (Seiuli, 2020).

Online learning: Education conducted and provided over the internet (Morgan, 2014).

Remote emergency education: Solution to overcome the impossibility of students and teachers being physically close in the classroom (Dorsah, 2021).

Synchronous learning: Participants are learning and interacting at the same period of time (Ogbonna et al., 2019).

Significance of the Study

This project study could assist XYZ administrators to design training programs, technical support, and resources to prepare and support faculty with adequate training in transitioning to online instruction during times of crisis, such as natural disasters,

pandemics, campus lockdowns, or any other unforeseen circumstances. The significance of this project study is that I assessed the experiences of XYZ educators with no experience in online instruction, especially during the time of the COVID-19 pandemic, when traditional higher learning institutions around the world resorted to online learning. This project study may foster positive social change in emerging online learning with face-to-face practice incorporating hybrid or blended learning in the future.

Research Questions

The research problem addressed in this study was the ineffective transition of courses to online platforms during the COVID-19 pandemic. The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to collect and examine the experiences of XYZ faculty who transitioned their courses to online learning platforms in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. The research problem addressed in the project study was prompted by the COVID-19 pandemic, restricting XYZ college to continue face-to-face instruction and suddenly transition to online instruction using Moodle. XYZ college does not offer distance learning, and practices online instruction to deliver its courses. Due to CDC social distance and mask requirements, the campus was forced to shut down without preparing its educators to convert and conduct courses online.

The research questions for this study were developed from the conceptual framework, research problem, and research purpose. Semistructured interviews were used to collect the data. After collecting and analyzing data, the emerging themes were used to categorize the experiences of XYZ educators. There is a need to know the different experiences XYZ educators had while abruptly transitioning to online instruction during

the COVID-19 pandemic. The research problem addressed in this study was the transition of courses to online platforms during the COVID-19 pandemic. The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to collect and examine the experiences of XYZ faculty who transitioned their courses to online learning platforms in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

The research questions guiding this study were as follows:

Research Question (RQ)1: What are the experiences of XYZ educators using MOODLE in transitioning to online instructions during the COVID-19 pandemic?

RQ2: What did XYZ educators report as challenges and advantages to using MOODLE during the pandemic?

Review of the Literature

The literature review addressed the research problem from a broad perspective. The president of XYZ college reported the struggle of its faculty members adjusting and engaging in online instruction in a short period of time as a local problem at the study site. The research problem addressed in this study was the transition of courses to online platforms during the COVID-19 pandemic. The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to collect and examine the experiences of XYZ faculty who transitioned their courses to online learning platforms in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

The review of the literature was conducted through multiple databases to search for peer-reviewed journals and electronic articles from the Walden University Library, ERIC, PROQUEST, EDUCATIONAL DATABASE, and Google Scholar. The terms used in the searches included *college faculty, professors, educators, transition to online* learning, adapt to online learning, emergency remote learning, emergency remote teaching, attitudes, experiences, and perceptions of educators, COVID-19 impact on education, challenges to online learning, and benefits to online learning.

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework of this study was guided by Piaget's constructivism and was directed to the individual on how they construct knowledge and incorporate it into individual experiences (Powell & Kalina, 2009). The focus of constructivism was to enable learners to reference and bring their previous experiences to construct knowledge (Ugwuozor & Hui, 2020). Bodner (1986) illustrated constructivism as a process where knowledge is built and tested concurrently. The context of constructivism is making learning meaningful and purposeful whereas learners apply new knowledge to practice in the real world.

The conceptual framework related to this qualitative research approach and RQs because I focused directly on XYZ educators. Constructivism is an approach to constructing knowledge from participants' experiences to generate new knowledge and understanding by individual concepts and categories to define meaningful previous experiences that can be applied to future situations (Jardine, 2005). I applied the constructivism concepts to the interview questions aligned to each RQ. Understanding the problem through the lens of XYZ educators clarified their challenges and obstacles. The interview questions allowed me to identify educators with and without previous online learning experiences prior to the pandemic and observe any constructive measures the educator took to adapt and create new knowledge. The categorized data themes helped me better understand XYZ educators' experiences using Moodle and revealed variables that contributed to the quality of instruction during the pandemic.

The purpose of this qualitative research study was to explore and understand the experiences of XYZ educators using Moodle to transition to online instruction during the COVID-19 pandemic. Identifying XYZ educators' experiences explained their behaviors, attitudes, beliefs, and perceptions in shifting to online instruction. Using constructivism helped me to understand the experiences of XYZ educators using Moodle to transition to online instruction during the COVID-19 pandemic.

The results from XYZ participants provided answers to each of the RQs. The first RQ helped me label the themes, indicating the positive and negative experiences of participants. The second RQ entailed applying constructivism to analyze the challenges and advantages reported by XYZ educators in transitioning to online instruction during the COVID-19 pandemic. Answers to this question highlighted differences in how each educator responded to using Moodle or transitioned to online instruction due to various factors or variables. These factors or variables were then used as supporting evidence on how XYZ college administrators and stakeholders can better prepare its educators in transitioning to online instruction using Moodle or any other form of learning management system.

Historical Perspective of Online Learning

The rapid growth of technology and the internet is essential to online learning. Online courses connect students and educators worldwide to achieve college degrees without physical appearance on the college campus. Online learning or distance learning or online education is popular in many colleges and universities worldwide; however, some colleges are still practicing face-to-face instruction, requiring students to attend classes on campus and receive instruction in traditional settings.

Zhou et al. (2020) stated that the birthplace of online learning or distance learning or distance education is the United States. A brief history of how distance learning emerged in the United States began in the 1700s when printed instructional materials were mailed using the standard form of mail through postal services (Harting & Erthal, 2005). From the 1900s to 1930s, radios and televisions were used by educators to facilitate instructional materials, and from the 1980s to 2000s, distance learning expanded using the internet and satellite television (Hansen, 2001). The expansion of online learning slowly gained popularity in learning institutions by recruiting and attracting students from different geographic areas due to flexibility and accessibility.

In the 21st century, technology devices and the internet have become affordable and rapidly advanced, thus impacting the education system. Forms of communication from a simple email to Google Meetings and Zoom can now be used to conduct video chats with advanced features to create web-based virtual conferences. Zoom, launched in 2011 by Yuan, is a video teleconference software featuring chat rooms and high definition of video, audio, and screensharing (Serhan, 2020).

Types of Distance Learning

Online learning is not offered in all higher learning institutions. Different types of online learning or distance learning can be delivered as synchronous, asynchronous, and hybrid. Ogbonna et al. (2019) explained that asynchronous learning enables students to

review course materials and proceed at their own pace, and synchronous learning requires an educator and learners to interact and be present at the same period of time. Sónia et al. (2021) suggested that synchronous and asynchronous learning are adapted to one type of learner and subject but not adaptive to other learners and subjects. Teachers are encouraged to employ various techniques and adjust methodologies to meet the needs of learners and fulfill learning outcomes. Hybrid learning occurs both in face-to-face instruction and online instruction (Goodyear, 2020). The benefit of asynchronous learning is that it improves the psychological level of learners; however, it omits the physical interaction between learners and educators because learning takes place in a virtual setting (Redman & Perry, 2020).

Challenges to Online Learning for Faculty

By temporarily shifting to online learning, traditional educators had the opportunity to conduct instruction online due to the COVID-19 pandemic. A shift from face-to-face instruction to online instruction came with challenges and benefits. Farooq et al. (2020) maintaining online student engagement is reported as a challenge for faculty. Creating a high-quality online learning environment requires the internet, technology accessibility, infrastructure, active communication, and participation of learners and educators (Kamble et al., 2021). Zalavra and Makri (2022) commented that the shifting of courses to an online platform has shown a decrease in student participation versus a face-to-face environment. Faculty must be willing to learn new skills and knowledge to teach online and not be forced by the administration (Ramani, 2022).

There are four challenges to online learning: limited resources, lack of technology literacy, uncooperative learners, and time restrictions. First, unavailability and accessibility to digital devices and the internet has resulted in challenges for students, compromising their online experiences (Dhawan, 2020). Second, the social-economic status of parents and students has led to a battle between purchasing electronic devices and internet connectivity to continue school virtually and meeting essential needs such as rent, utilities, insurance, and food (Ahsan et al., 2021; Gillis & Krull, 2020; Kumaraperumal et al., 2021; Priyadarshani & Jesuiya, 2021). Third, the cost of hardware and software, technology devices, and infrastructure has impacted learning institutions' financial stand to have available funds to purchase the essential resources to ensure online learning occurred and mitigated any technical difficulties (Kasani et al., 2020). Finally, educators perform and conduct face-to-face and online instruction the same; the only difference is the learning environment and accessibility.

The lack of technology literacy is another challenge to online learning for both educators and learners. Sónia et al. (2021) stated that transformation from traditional teaching to distance relies on resolving equipment problems and pedagogical knowledge. Educators have experienced and witnessed the rich experiences of online learning through a well-planned continuous support, sufficient facilities, and facilitative environment (Sim et al., 2020). Al-Karaki et al. (2021) reported that maintaining the integrity and authenticity of assessments online is a challenge to educators because of student cheating or academic dishonesty. Obtaining technical skills and prior experience to online teaching and preparation to emergency and crises were challenges faced by faculty (Ghazi-Saidi et al., 2020).

Uncooperative learners are a challenge for educators to ensure that all students have a positive and rich online experience. Gillis and Krull (2020) reported that the COVID-19 pandemic affected the academic success of students experiencing anxiety, staying unmotivated, and being distracted due to mental health and lack of sleep. Time restrictions or conflicts were also a challenge because of personal obligations and employment, interfering with synchronous and asynchronous learning. Furthermore, Priyadarshani and Jesuiya (2021) reported challenges to conducting online learning, such as limited space in homes and distractions from family members.

Benefits to Online Learning

Mbandlwa (2021) commented that higher education benefits from deploying online learning resources by increasing the quality of teaching and analysis of incoming knowledge. In addition, online learning can provide accessibility and flexibility, be student-centered, promote live interaction and reduce time allocation. In addition, online assessments have improved student academic performances versus face-to-face assessments (Domínguez-Figaredo et al., 2022). Furthermore, online learning is costefficient for both the institution and the learner (Ibna Seraj et al., 2022).

Accessibility and Flexibility

Distance education can create equity for all students worldwide by providing quality education through the use of the internet and computer devices. Online learning provides accessibility and flexibility for students who may not have the opportunity and resources to complete a college degree by physically attending higher learning institution campuses (Al-Karaki et al., 2021; Liu et al., 2020). For example, asynchronous video increases flexibility to participate in live sessions in accommodating time differences (Dhawan, 2020; Lowenthal et al., 2020). Moreover, Meina Zhu et al. (2022) suggested that online learning promotes student accountability and independence to direct their own learning at a preferred time. Furthermore, online learning flexibility accommodates different types of student proficiency levels because the availability of course materials and assignments enable the student to work at their own pace (Hamza Sheerah et al., 2022).

Student-Centered

Aljaraideh (2019) found that faculty preferred online learning as a tool to introduce new teaching strategies, learning methods, and techniques aligning to students' learning preferences. This encourages students to learn at their own pace and become self-directed helped with student-centered learning. Similarly, Scutelnicu et al. (2019) used an online course template to increase student-instructor communication and effective course engagement, thus enriching students' experiences by focusing on the course content.

Offering Live Interaction and Freedom with Time Allocation

Using Zoom to conduct virtual face-to-face learning using features such as screen sharing enables the educator and learner to have engaging discussions and interactions. Zoom offers virtual breakout rooms similar to small group discussion in person before meeting with the rest of the class (Langer de Ramírez, 2020). In addition, students are allocated more time to review course materials to create well thought and productive classroom contributions without hesitations of stalling a live discussion (Ogbonna et al., 2019). Videos and audio connect educators to students and allows teaching and learning outside of the classroom (Dhawan, 2020).

Beliefs and Attitudes of Educators Transitioning to Online Learning

The profession of an educator is rich with experiences that enhance teaching and learning with students. Christopoulos and Sprangers (2021) reported that educators often lack self-confidence to explore and implement new educational technologies. Challenges and obstacles are always be present in light of implementing new tools of teaching and learning. Along those same lines, Aytaç (2021) found that inexperienced educators often struggle to understand the features of online tools and resources to experience a rich online learning experience. Since the COVID-19 pandemic, educators have become overwhelmed with online learning pedagogy and navigating various learning management systems to deliver instructions online. Students with special needs and English language learners are also challenging for educators who use online learning platforms (Marshall et al., 2020).

Preparedness and Readiness

Preparedness or readiness and content barriers were some of the popular experiences of educators towards online learning or instruction during the COVID-19 pandemic. Several variables have contributed to how well educators prepared or determined their readiness to conduct online instructions. Almazova et al. (2020) noted that teachers' and students' readiness are crucial to implementing online learning. Likewise, Grynyuk et al. (2022) discussed that universities must provide training for teachers to develop new platforms in utilizing distance learning. Additionally, Junus et al. (2021) found that educators with no online teaching experience were less prepared to execute online communication, time management, and class planning. Moreover, Johnson et al. (2020) noted that faculty must be well prepared to teach online, and using blended modes will result in a quality online educational experience. However, the onesize-fits-all concept does not apply to all educators. Asio and Bayucca (2021) acknowledged that some teachers were not tech-savvy and preferred face-to-face instruction versus virtual learning.

Content Barriers

Theoretical courses may consist of laboratories or practicums to satisfy the course's learning outcomes and curriculum standards. The critical challenges to online learning are courses with required hands-on training. Kummitha et al. (2021) discussed that courses without laboratories and practicums are easy to reach their full potential; however, courses with laboratories and practicums are difficult to fulfill their learning outcomes because they require face-to-face or hands-on experience.

Conducting online assessments is challenging in ensuring the authenticity of student assignments in major projects and examinations. Sharadgah and Sa'di (2020) reported that educators were not convinced of using online assessments to assess learning outcomes due to academic dishonesty. In a similar vein, Marshall et al. (2020) reported that educators from content areas in physical education, music, and art refrained from distributing assignments to allow students to focus on core content areas only.

Applying MOODLE as a Learning Management Tool

Moodle was a course management system designed to assist faculty to create quality online courses (Seiuli, 2020) and offered features to create online assignments and assessments, submissions, discussion forums, and access to course learning materials (Ramos et al., 2021). Implementing Moodle or any other LMS was costly with the expectation to improve the quality of education and increase enrollment (Zhang et al., 2020).

Other Learning Management Tools

Educational institutions use other learning management systems aside from Moodle such as Canvas, Blackboard, and Google Class to name a few. Canvas offers similar features as Moodle at the same time it varies by bandwidth, financial stability, and utilization (Mpungose & Khoza, 2020). Blackboard was an additional virtual learning environment that also shares similar features to other LMS (Kumar et al., 2021). Different LMS were made available to learning institutions based on their specific needs to support its curriculum, instruction, and assessment.

Implications

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to collect and examine the experiences of XYZ faculty who transitioned their courses to online learning platforms in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. The collective data translated to rich information for the institution to better understand the needs of faculty and students' sudden transition to online learning. The study might benefit educators by obtaining the skills and knowledge to provide high-quality education using online learning tools and maximizing

student learning experiences. This study holds the potential to create social change by providing opportunities for educators to use lessons learned from an abrupt pivot to online learning during the pandemic, to improve teaching experiences in future online classes. The findings from this study can have important implications for educators in terms of building a teacher-student relationship, effective methods of online instruction, and efficient methods of assessment to achieve student learning outcomes and increase student achievement.

A possible project direction for this study could modify the current curriculum to implement a technology service component as an additional program or course learning outcome. This curriculum could require all degree programs to create a new learning outcome to be satisfied by an online component in the course. Implementing the practice of blended learning to encourage faculty and students to learn from different learning platforms, however, achieving the same outcomes. The advantage of this curriculum would allow flexibility for faculty and students to support teaching and learning more efficiently. The findings of this study led to a 3-day professional development for faculty. The professional development training addressed the research problem, summarizes findings, and relied on literature for best practices for faculty engagement online.

Summary

The COVID-19 was the main instigator of the sudden transition to online learning by mandating CDC's social distance and mask policies. Learning institutions worldwide resorted to online learning to continue instructions and refrain from canceling instruction; a solution that came with its own characteristics of obstacles from its stakeholders, especially educators and students. This study is directed to educators; the majority of the literature review was conducted within the United States and international countries, but rarely published literature regarding the experiences of Pacific Island educators from American Samoa. This presents a gap in the literature. The findings from the literature review reported numerous educators' experiences, attitudes, and beliefs towards teaching online during the COVID-19 pandemic. It found that educators with low self-efficacy, online teaching experience, and limited resources explain how, why, and what educators are; they are either frustrated or had a positive experience teaching during the pandemic. It also reported the need to convince educators the authenticity of using online assessments to assess learning outcomes without prejudice of students cheating. Section 2 is the methodology which entails a research design and approach, participants, data collection, data analysis, and limitations.

Section 2: The Methodology

Research Design and Approach

This section includes a description and justification of the research design and approach aligned to the research problem and questions. The rationale for alternative research methods and designs from qualitative and quantitative includes an explanation to why it was not selected for this project study. The description of participants and their selection requires criteria that aligned with the research problem and questions. A descriptive process in conducting the research at the research site includes the Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB) process, site permission letter to the XYZ college president, procedures to access prospective research participants and their selection, data collection, analysis, and themes.

The research design selected for this doctoral study was basic qualitative research. Merriam and Tisdell (2016) explained that the purpose of qualitative research was primarily to construct the meaning of peoples' actions to a specific phenomenon to better understand their experiences and develop new knowledge. A basic qualitative research design is used to discover and understand a phenomenon or perspective and perceptions through the lens of participating individuals (Merriam, 1988). The rationale for using a basic qualitative research design was to collect and analyze in-depth information about XYZ educators' experiences transitioning to online instruction using Moodle during the COVID-19 pandemic, and it aligned with the problem, purpose, and RQs.

Rationale for Research Method Alternatives

A quantitative research design helps to understand and describe a phenomenon, behavior, or problem using numerical data and statistical analysis to identify patterns, measure variables, and make predictions (Burkholder et al., 2019). Quantitative research was not selected for this study because it misaligned with the research problem and questions in collecting the experiences of XYZ educators transitioning to online learning using Moodle. Additional qualitative research designs served the best interest of this study. The qualitative research designs included ethnography, case study, phenomenology, and narrative. Walford (2020) discussed that an ethnography research design requires a long-term engagement with a cultural group to observe and interact with its research participants in their real-life environment. A case study provides a descriptive analysis on the behavior of a group, and a phenomenology study identifies and describes themes and patterns of lived experiences of individuals to a specific phenomenon different from a narrative study, which retells the stories of individuals (Burkholder et al., 2019). The alternative qualitative research design methods were not selected for the project study because they could not fulfill the purpose of the research problem and provide insight and understanding to the RQs intended to examine the experiences of XYZ faculty who transitioned to online learning platforms in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Research Questions

The key RQs for this project included the following:

RQ1: What are the experiences of XYZ educators using MOODLE in transitioning to online instructions during the COVID-19 pandemic?

RQ2: What did XYZ educators report as challenges and advantages to using MOODLE during the pandemic?

Research Method

The study was guided by a basic qualitative research design using semistructured interviews as a research method to collect the data needed to address the RQs and research problem to develop the deliverables. In compliance with Walden IRB guidelines, there were four steps to be completed in order to receive approval to conduct the study. First, I sent a site permission letter to the XYZ college president seeking approval to conduct the study on-site and to gain access to research participants. Prior to conducting the interviews, I asked for participants' consent and informed them of their protection of identity, physical, social, legal, and economic form of any harm. Further, I ensured that participants understood their role in the study, how their confidentiality would be maintained, and their right to withdraw at any time without any repercussions. Lastly, I informed participants that their identity and their responses would not be disclosed, and the information will be safely stored and discarded after 5 years.

Gaining Access to Participants

The study was guided by a basic qualitative research design using semistructured interviews as a research method to collect the data needed to address the RQs and research problem to develop the deliverables. In compliance with Walden IRB guidelines, there were four steps completed in order to receive approval to conduct the
study. A letter of intent was sent to the XYZ college president seeking approval to conduct the study on-site and to gain access to research participants available. This was approved on January 27, 2022. Prior to conducting the study, the consent form was included in the email invitation for all prospective participants, informing them of their protection of identity, physical, social, legal, and economic form of any harm. I ensured that participants understood their role in the study, how their confidentiality was maintained, and their right to withdraw at any time without any repercussions. Also, I informed participants that their identity and their responses would not be disclosed and the information would be safely stored and discarded after 5 years. A researcher journal was used to avoid bias during the interview process and ensured that I remained neutral.

Data collection began after approval from Walden University IRB (IRB# 06-21-22-0332747). I received consent and approval from the XYZ president to conduct the study on campus and to gain access to its faculty members. The study site was a local 2year community college (XYZ college) in American Samoa, offering associate degrees, certificates of completion and proficiency, and trades and technology certificates. An email invitation was sent out to prospective participants with a brief introduction of myself, an overview of the research study, the purpose of the interview, a description of how the interview would be conducted, consent forms, and measures of maintaining confidentiality between myself and the participants. Prospective participants interested in the study acknowledged and confirmed through email by responding "I consent." The study required 10 to 12 research participants from different disciplines, genders, age differences, and years of service to the teaching profession. Overall, 10 educators participated in the semistructured interviews.

Participation Selection

Purposeful sampling was used to select 10 participants out of the 56 full-time faculty members at XYZ college. This rationale was chosen because XYZ educators were primarily impacted by the sudden transition to emergency remote teaching due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The rationale provided rich information to answer the RQs and address the research problem. After sending the invitation through email to all faculty at XYZ college, interested participants responded through email by "I Consent" to confirm and satisfy their understanding and review of the consent form. Research participants had the right to withdraw from the interview at any time without penalty and were reminded of this prior to the interview.

Data Collection

Semistructured interviews were used for data collection because they captured the perceptions and experiences of respondents (Barriball & While, 1994). I used semistructured interviews to explore and collect the experiences of how XYZ educators used Moodle to continue instructions during the COVID-19 pandemic. I conducted the semistructured interviews one-on-one with research participants instead of in a focus group. The interview protocol consisted of all the interview questions. Rubin and Rubin (2011) follow-up or probing questions further clarify the information during an interview process in detail.

The data collection process revealed in-depth and data-rich results from respondents' audio recordings (Burkholder et al., 2019). I then analyzed them into codes, themes, and categories. In addition, semistructured interviews allowed me to explore and collect the experiences of how XYZ educators used Moodle to continue instructions during the COVID-19 pandemic. The estimated length of time of the interviews was 35 minutes to 1 hour. First, the interview protocol was followed as a guide to initiate the interview process. Next, inform their permission to begin the interview and recording. The recordings was replayed and transcribed data to match the participants' responses. The next step was member checking; each participant reviewed their transcripts to verify the accuracy of the information and ensure credibility.

Data Analysis Process

The method of data collection used in the study was semistructured interviews. All interviews were transcribed from audio to text using Microsoft Word and then transferred to Microsoft Excel. Followed by member checking, a process to ensure the creditability and accuracy of the information before data analysis (Tracy, 2010). This process allows research participants to correct any misinterpretations by the researcher and verify the accuracy of interview transcripts, and researchers can inquire for clarification. Finally, the content analysis process was conducted as the data analysis for this study. The appearance of certain terms, themes, or categories enables researchers to create meaning and relationships (Stemler, 2015). The key findings directed and developed which project deliverable applied to the research problem. Thus, the 3-day professional development was preferred as the project deliverable.

Data Analysis Results

I gained approval from Walden University's IRB (IRB# 06-21-22-0332747). After receiving approval from IRB, an email invitation was sent to all XYZ faculty. A few interested participants did not meet the criteria. Twelve prospective research participants commented "I Consent" to participate in the study. An interview schedule was sent after achieving the desired number of 12 research participants needed; however, two did not show up to their scheduled interviews on Zoom. Only nine XYZ faculty members were interviewed through Zoom, and one faculty was interviewed in person.

I transcribed each audio recording after each individual interview to match with the live transcript to ensure that the responses were accurate. This process required multiple reviews of the audio recording to correct the words from the live transcript. The next step was member checking; each participant received their own transcript to review, evaluate, and ensure the accuracy of the information. All participants verified that their information was accurate. The audio recording and transcripts were stored separately and protected by a password.

Table 1 displays the scheduled dates and times and contact preferences of each research participant. Each participant was coded by alphabet letters; the first letter represented the researcher's first research study, and the second letter identified the order of research participants.

Table 1

Scheduled Interview

Date/time	Participant	Zoom/Face-to-Face
June 30, 2022/8:00-9:00AM	AA	Zoom

June 30, 2022/12:00-1:00PM	AB	Zoom
June 30, 2022/4:00-5:00PM	AC	Zoom
July 1, 2022/8:00-9:00AM	AD	Zoom
July 1, 2022/3:00-4:00PM	AE	Zoom
July 2, 2022/10:00-11:00AM	AF	Zoom
July 2, 2022/:12:00-1:00PM	AG	In person
July 4, 2022/ 12:00-1:00PM	AH	Zoom
July 5, 2022/6:00-7:00PM		Zoom (no show)
July 5, 2022/4:00-5:00PM		In person (no show)
July 6, 2022/8:00-9:00AM	AI	Zoom
July 8, 2022/8:00-9:00PM	AJ	In person

Content thematic analysis was used to analyze the data. I manually coded the data using Microsoft Excel to record identified patterns and create clusters of codes generating themes. The acquired data revealed six themes: (a) unprepared for online instruction; (b) lack of support and training; (c) faculty attitudes towards Moodle; (d) student issues; (e) internet connectivity, accessibility to technology, and technical support; and (f) accessible information. Table 2 displays the RQs with generated themes. The themes were generated from codes listed in Table 3. Table 3 provides the direct quotes from research participants to create codes and develop themes.

Table 2

Research Questions and Themes

Research question	Theme
RQ1: What are the experiences of XYZ educators for online instructions?	1). Unprepared for online instruction
	2). Lack of support and training using MOODLE in transitioning to online
	3). Faculty attitudes towards Moodle
RQ2: What did XYZ educators report as	4). Student issues
challenges and advantages to using MOODLE during the COVID-19 Pandemic	challenges and advantages to using MOODLE
	5) Internet connectivity, accessibility to technology, and technical support
	6). Accessible information

Table 3

Themes	Codes	Quotes
1). Unprepared for online instruction	Inexperience Unprepared	"I've never experienced online learning" "I was unprepared, honestly because I didn't set up the Moodle, before when we were hit with the pandemic back in spring 2020"
2). Lack of support and training using MOODLE in transitioning to online	Ineffective Inadequate Support	"There was training but not effective" "Short training before the lockdown" "Lack of support to assist faculty with technology and internet resources"
3). Faculty attitudes towards Moodle	Self-motivated Initiative Resistant	"Navigate Moodle on my own to explore its features" "I was able to improvise and learn on the job" "Resistant with online learning, because they are accustomed to their old methodology and instructions"
4). Student issues challenges and advantages to using MOODLE	Excuse Academic integrity Independent learning	"Students having problems accessing Moodle account used as an excuse" "Avoid student cheating during online assessments" "Students can learn on their own with available resources in Moodle"
5) Internet connectivity, accessibility to technology, and technical support	Stabilize internet No technology support Delay response	"Need to stabilize internet on campus" "The college did not provide any laptops or desktops and internet to conduct online learning from home" "MIS office delay response to trouble tickets for both students and faculty"
6). Accessible information	Archive	"Archived course information, student records, and materials"

Themes, Codes, and Quotations

Content thematic analysis was used to analyze the data. The content thematic analysis consisted of six steps to analyze the data. The first step was familiarization, the second step was coding, the third step was generating themes, the fourth step was reviewing themes, the fifth step was defining and naming themes, and the final step was writing up.

Narrative Report

The research problem for this study was the ineffective transition of courses to Moodle during the COVID-19 pandemic. A basic qualitative study was selected to collect and examine the experiences of XYZ faculty using Moodle to conduct online instructions in the mid-spring semester of 2020. Purposeful sampling selected 10 participants, semistructured interviews were used to collect the data, and content thematic analysis was used to analyze the data. This narrative report tells the story of the 10 participants using six major themes: (a) unprepared for online instruction; (b) lack of support and training; (c) faculty attitudes towards Moodle; (d) student issues; (e) internet connectivity, accessibility to technology, and technical support; and (f) accessible information. The RQ1 was answered in the context of Themes (a) through (c), understanding the experiences of XYZ educators using Moodle in transitioning to online instructions during the COVID-19 pandemic. The RQ2 was answered in the context of Themes 4 through 6, unveiling the challenges and advantages of XYZ educators using Moodle during the COVID-19 pandemic.

The first theme was faculty unprepared for online instruction. The data results revealed the majority of the participants are unprepared to transition to online instruction

using Moodle because they were inexperienced and unfamiliar with online instruction. The majority of the participants had never taught online before the COVID-19 pandemic. AC described the transition to online instruction as overwhelming: "I did not know what to expect and how to teach in front of a laptop I was lost." However, they relied on their past experiences from their graduate degree programs online. AI shared that being a former online graduate somewhat prepared them to teach online: "I've never taught online before, but I have experienced online learning before in my own personal academic journey."

The second theme, the lack of support and training. RQ1, the responses uttered faculty frustrations towards the administrators in planning and executing training for faculty. The negative faculty experiences are poor results from the lack of and inadequate training. AD's perspective of the provided training was as follows: "There was training but not effective, it was informational, not technical." The majority of the participants responded with similar answers. AE explained the context of the training to be limited: "Training only covered basic information for Moodle but how to teach online was in the dark." The next theme, faculty attitudes towards Moodle, and mixed responses divided the attitudes of faculty towards using Moodle. The other half of the participants are self-motivated and taking the initiative to learn how to use Moodle for their technical literacy. According to AG, when taking the initiative to learn and invest in Moodle: "I have learned more on my own than the training we had." While the other half were resistant to online instruction because they are accustomed to their traditional ways of teaching methodology and instructions.

RQ2 unveiled the challenges and advantages of XYZ educators using Moodle during the COVID-19 pandemic. The fourth theme, student issues in Moodle are challenges for faculty. In the mid-spring of the 2020 semester, the campus was shut down due to an emergency declaration that discontinued face-to-face instruction surfaced student issues. Participants reported students' engagement as a major challenge when using Moodle encountering technical issues, digital literacy, lack of participation, and a high number of absences. AA shared how students can use technical issues to their benefit: "Students having problems accessing their Moodle account is used as an excuse." As AH echoed, it is the institution's responsibility to prepare students to continue instructions online despite "students' inability to learn how to navigate Moodle." AE also shared the additional task faculty carries to teach students how to navigate Moodle: "Much of my instruction time was to help students understand the features of Moodle such as uploading assignments." Participants reported poor student engagement in online learning as a major challenge when using Moodle.

The data reported several challenges with internet connectivity, accessibility to technology, and technical support identified as the fifth theme when using Moodle during the COVID-19 pandemic. The internet connectivity causes technical issues for both the students and faculty. AK furthered stated: "Need to stabilize internet connection on campus...our department been having power outages and poor internet connection." Poor internet connections negatively impact the performance of students and the quality of instruction online. Participants expressed their frustration about the institution not providing the technology devices to assist and support faculty in continuing online

instructions using Moodle. For example, AF mentioned: "I had to use my own personal electronic devices and internet to continue instruction online from home." The majority of the faculty used their own personal electronic devices, residential internet, and purchase data to conduct online learning. It was reported that the faculty did not receive any compensation for utilizing their personal resources to facilitate online instructions. The technical support was reported as a challenge, for the institution's management information system (MIS). The data revealed delayed response from the MIS to assist faculty and students and incorrect course information in Moodle. AA shared: "The first session in Moodle is different from the second session because of the information listed in the catalog;" therefore, one department encountered issues with MIS copying and pasting the course information context to the second session 6 weeks of the course.

The final theme was accessible information as an advantage to using Moodle. The data revealed that Moodle archived course information, course resources, and student information from previous semesters. Several participants shared that it saves time for course preparation such as printing a large sum of student assignments eliminates paper printing. AA embraced the elimination of paper trail: "I don't have to prepare or make hard copies for tests and assignments." AC highlighted one of the Moodle features to identify students' assignment submission time stamp: "At a glance to already who submitted and who did not submit their assignment, monitoring submissions and everything" Moodle flags out students with no assignment and late submissions. Participants expressed relief from paper trail assignments and taking student work home for grading. Using Moodle students could upload their assignments into Moodle,

however, faculty set deadlines for submissions. Instructions, assignments, and resources were available for students to access at any time; this saved time for faculty to repeat instructions. The Moodle grade feature customized the grading scale and generated outcome reports for individual students and classes. AH shared the main advantage of using Moodle was a game changer: "I enjoyed using the updated Moodle loaded with all the features that we have now, advantages such as attendance." The attendance feature created a log for each individual student displaying their login time.

Review of the Findings

The previous section described the major themes with supporting details from the collected data from each research participant. In this section, the review of findings section addressed the literature, conceptual framework, and accuracy of the data report, and deliverable. The data analysis revealed six major themes, (a) unprepared for online instruction, (b) lack of support and training, (c) faculty attitudes towards Moodle, (d) student issues, (e) internet connectivity, accessibility to technology, and technical support, and (f) accessible information.

The data reported that the participants' experiences transitioning to online instructions using Moodle surfaced faculty concerns regarding training provided by the institution and faculty attitudes. The participants shared their frustration with the sudden transition to online instructions with a lack of and nonapplicable training, no resources provided by the institution, and inexperienced faculty with online learning struggling with the basics of Moodle. However, despite the recorded challenges, participants slowly adapted to online instruction using Moodle and appreciated it in the end. Most participants reported enjoying online instruction because they gained new teaching methods and skills, enhancing their methodology by implementing technology into instruction.

Findings Related to the Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework for this project study was Piaget's constructivism. Constructivism is an approach to constructing knowledge from an individual's experience to conceive new knowledge (Powell & Kalina, 2009). The research and interview questions were guided by constructivism. The data analysis of the participants indicated that faculty who completed their graduate degrees online relied on their experience to adapt to online instruction using Moodle during the COVID-19 pandemic. Although the institution provided training, the participants' responses indicated that it did not prepare them for the sudden transition to online instruction. The data indicated that the participants were self-motivated learners exploring outside resources to enhance their knowledge and obtain new pedagogy to provide their students with a rich online learning experience. Their past experiences as online learners helped them understand the expectations of online learning and instruction. However, they lack the knowledge and skills to effectively and efficiently transition courses online using different learning management systems. A process illustrating constructivism that knowledge is built and tested concurrently (Bodner, 1986).

Findings Related to the Literature

The results of this basic qualitative study were supported in the literature review in Section 1. The findings from the data analysis revealed faculty experiences of how they adapted instruction to online learning using Moodle during the COVID-19 pandemic. The participants' experiences highlighted how faculty members took their own experiences with online learning as a student to prepare themselves to continue instructions immediately—determining their readiness to step into a new learning environment using technology and the internet. Almazova et al. (2020) noted that teachers' and students' readiness were crucial to implementing online learning. The existing literature showed that inexperienced educators and no online teaching experiences were less likely to be prepared and struggled to adapt to online learning (Aytaç, 202; Junus et al., 2021). Zalavra and Makri (2022) commented that the shifting of courses to an online platform decreased student participation versus a face-to-face environment.

The lack of student participation was one of the significant challenges revealed in the data. Students' poor participation in online discussion forums, poor attendance, and failure to submit assignments contributed to failing grades at the end of the course. Another challenge was internet connectivity and technology accessibility. Online learning requires internet and technology accessibility (Kamble et al., 2021). Participants expressed that students and faculty must have access to a computer or electronic device and the internet to conduct online learning. From the participants' responses, there are issues with veteran faculty accustomed to traditional learning and refusing to learn new teaching methodologies and pedagogy to transition courses online using Moodle. Faculty must be willing to learn new skills and knowledge to teach online while not being forced by the administration (Ramani, 2022). All faculty must acquire new teaching methodologies to effectively teach online with adequate knowledge and skills to carry out the curriculum with applicable instruction and assessment tools.

Project Deliverable

The six themes justified the need for professional development as a project deliverable for this study. The main areas to address are negative faculty experiences and maintaining high-quality education in the 3-day professional development series. The responses address faculty challenges in using Moodle and acquiring new knowledge and skills to enhance their online teaching pedagogy and achieve meaningful online learning experiences. A 3-day professional development tailors to the needs of the faculty to provide technical literacy in Moodle, online pedagogy, online assessment, and hands experience.

Summary

In this section, I have specified the description of the research methodology used for this project study. The data collection process included purposeful sampling and semi-structured interviews. The content thematic analysis was used to analyze the data. Member checking was used to check the accuracy of the collected data. The data analysis revealed 6 major themes that addressed each of the RQs. The review of findings related to the conceptual framework and literature review. Section 3 provides a literature review of the project genre and the project's description, evaluation, and implication.

Section 3: The Project

Introduction

This qualitative study aimed to collect and examine the experiences of XYZ faculty who transitioned their courses to online learning platforms in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. Purposeful sampling and semistructured interviews used to collect the data to collect the experiences of 10 XYZ faculty. The content thematic analysis was used to analyze the data. The findings from the data analysis determined which deliverables from the genres of projects served as a solution to the project study. The four genres of projects were evaluation reports, curriculum plans, professional development/training curriculum and materials, and position papers. Therefore, the findings recommended professional development to address the challenges and needs of XYZ faculty in transitioning to online platforms in response to an emergency remote learning due to any crisis. The goal of the 3-day professional development training was to provide technical literacy in Moodle, online pedagogy, online assessments, and hands-on experience in delivering instructions effectively using Moodle. In addition, this study aimed to identify strategies and barriers to teaching in an online environment, mainly using Moodle.

Rationale

The research problem that guided this study was prompted by the COVID-19 pandemic, restricting XYZ college from continuing face-to-face instruction and suddenly transitioning to online instruction using Moodle. The study findings indicated the need for professional development for XYZ faculty to be trained in using Moodle efficiently using online pedagogy. The data analysis surfaced the need for professional development to address the challenges and expand faculty Moodle literacy to maximize the quality of online instructions. Craig and Frey (2022) stated that professional development is essential to faculty growth. Jones et al. (2021) asserted that professional development placed teachers to become learners and understand students' challenges. Adequate planning and design of instructions are critical components of establishing online education (Adedoyin & Soykan, 2020). This 3-day professional development training may achieve the goals of this project study by ensuring to provide faculty with creative skills, knowledge, online assessment, and pedagogy to improve and enhance their online teaching experience.

Review of the Literature

The second literature review is a comprehensive search and review of the literature to support professional development for educators. This literature review guides and identifies the best practices for designing practical professional development training for educators. Transformative learning theory guided the understanding of the learners for this professional development. The findings from the study revealed the need for extensive professional development to address the challenges and needs of the faculty at XYZ college. The data sources for this literature review were the Educational Resources Center (ERIC), Educational Resource, and Google Scholar. The following keywords were used to conduct the literature review: *professional development, strategies for professional development, training for professional development, instructional practices*,

adult learners, collaboration, transformational learning, online assessment, and online instructional strategies.

Professional Development

Professional development includes an opportunity for faculty to share similar experiences about their learning and use of technology (Bedford, 2019; Noonan, 2019). Bloomberg (2020) stated that professional development is a tool to address learning challenges. Professional development enhances teaching methods to apply knowledge and skillsets to improve job performance (Ali & Haider, 2021). Saleem et al. (2021) mentioned that professional development is essential for teachers because it improves effectiveness and efficiency. Online professional development training places teachers in the position of a learner to experience the position of students (Shagiakhmetova et al., 2022). These studies provided evidence that professional developments are responsive solutions to address the needs, challenges, and improvement of educators.

Collaboration

Professional development provides collaborative opportunities and community establishment. Mustafa and Paçarizi (2021) recognized that teacher community and collaborations create a nurturing environment to share professional experiences and exchange information. Hontvedt et al. (2021) claimed that collaboration could also evaluate and reflect educators' instructional practices, define the means to teach, and identify areas of improvement. De Simone (2020) further shared that collaboration increases motivation to perform at a higher level and succeed in future endeavors to learn new skills. Additionally, Höfrová et al. (2021) revealed that a relationship between the number of benefits and contribution impacts professional development outcomes because of faculty satisfaction. Finally, Al-Naabi et al. (2021) encouraged learning institutions to provide environments and tools for collaboration to support social learning and practicebased learning approaches. The conclusion of these studies indicated collaboration as a tool for success to increase motivation and enhances professional practices.

Effective Professional Development

Professional development is delivered virtually or face-to-face and hybrid. Virtual professional developments are asynchronous and /or synchronous formats. The benefit of a virtual professional development asynchronous format is availability and flexibility, accommodating time conflicts between schedules for learners, and increasing participation (Borup & Evmenova, 2019). Also, Learners' needs and unique characteristics promote efficacy in professional development (Powell & Bodur, 2019; Yurtseven Avci et al., 2020). Then, Sancar et al. (2021) found that reinforcement and the value of individual characteristics seem to increase teacher motivation. Tafazoli (2021) further stated that teacher professional development integrates content, pedagogical, and technology knowledge. In addition, the advances in technology facilitate new and different forms of professional development for teachers to enhance their teaching experiences (Parsons et al., 2019). Then in order for change to occur and for there to be an implementation of new practices, stimulation would be applicable to prepare teachers on how to address when they encounter issues (Martin et al., 2019). Leary et al. (2020) also commented that during professional development, an opportunity must be given to instructors to reflect on the new knowledge, skills, and practices. Equally important is the

support and feedback from all various departments of an institution are vital to designing effective professional development (Heap et al., 2021). In summary, professional development is highly recommended to introduce new practices to enhance the quality of teaching and learning.

Transformational Learning Theory

Mezirow developed transformational learning theory using an individual's experiences to make new interpretations in shifting one's perspective, belief, and attitude (Kurnia, 2021). In the same way, Kallou and Kikilia's (2021) transformation learning changed students' perspectives, assumptions, and beliefs using critical reflection and rich dialogue. For instance, critical reflection, rich dialogue, and authentic relationships promote transformative learning fostered by using groups (Baumgartner, 2019). Tsimane and Downing (2020) even revealed that transformational learning is an integrative learning approach to constructing new knowledge. Then, Schnepfleitner and Ferreira (2021) focused on the learner's need to acquire new knowledge that requires active participation and engagement that connects their experiences to create meaningful learning experiences. To conclude, transformational learning theory is essential to understand how learners can adjust their thinking through rich dialogues within groups.

Online Course Development

Using the curriculum development called backward design by Wiggins and McTighe begins from the end of the course's learning outcomes aligning with the assessments and activities (Bitetti, 2019; Ziegenfuss & LeMire, 2020). Hosseini et al. (2019) explained that backward design aids the learners' perspective from a different standpoint by understanding the learning process to achieve the outcomes. The backward design consists of three steps, including crafting desired outcomes, assessments, and instructions (Del Favero, 2018). Step 1 is an understanding between the learner and the course, followed by Step 2 to identify assessments that best measures the learners' understanding, and the last step select the methods of instruction accustomed to the learners' ability (Button, 2021). These are the steps taken to design the professional development to address the areas of deficiency from the findings.

Online Instructional Strategies

The methods of instruction do not fit the saying "one size fits all" because online instruction differs from traditional or face-to-face instruction. Halim and Sunarti (2021) elaborated on the importance of the mode of delivery to promote students' learning styles and cultures to establish a student-centeredness. Scaffolding is an instructional strategy that guides and supports student learning (Abdelshaheed, 2019). Abdelshaheed (2019) identified scaffolding as a best practice for effective online learning because it assists teachers in specifying ways to support learners learn and develop new skills and concepts to achieve goals. Doo et al. (2020) used computers to apply a scaffolding strategy to improve student engagement through social interaction and enhance online learning quality. Valencia-Vallejo et al. (2018) found that students' efficacy is influenced by motivational scaffolding in online learning. Active student engagement is vital in education because of the ability to develop new knowledge and promote social interactions.

Online Assessments

Online assessments are different from face-to-face assessments because of the physical appearance and attendance of the instructor and students. Zaleha and Mohd (2022) reported that online examinations, such as the open book method, do not prevent academic integrity but recommended that project-based assessments apply to online learning and serve as a solution to academic integrity and plagiarism. Similarly, when using online examinations, it is imperative to consider adequate time for students to complete and review their answers and alleviate text anxiety (Khan & Khan, 2019). Tartavulea et al. (2020) also found that online formative assessments, such as homework and projects, increased during the COVID-19 pandemic. In agreement with other researchers, Wahid et al. (2021) recommended conducting synchronous online examinations with objective and subjective questions that validate student performances. To conclude, online assessments rely on the faculty's discretion on what assessment tools eliminates academic dishonesty and assess student learning.

Project Description

The data analysis revealed the active engagement of faculty in online learning; however, they needed professional development training. Thus, I created a 3-day professional development training in response to the results. The purpose of the professional development was to provide faculty with the knowledge, skills, and online pedagogy to effectively transition courses to online learning using Moodle. The results of the study indicated that faculty would gain valuable insight from professional development training that focuses on areas in online pedagogy, is learner-centered, and navigates the features of Moodle to maximize student learning and achievement to achieve a seamless transition to online learning.

Needed Resources

The professional development needed the support of the dean of academic affairs, MIS, and the Computer Science academic department. The dean of academic affairs must approve the 3-day professional development for faculty and grant access to MIS and selective academic departments. MIS is responsible for all the technical support to assist faculty in accessing Moodle and ensure connectivity during professional development. The Computer Science department could assist with professional development by sharing their experiences and areas of expertise in using the features of Moodle in assessment.

Existing Support

The MIS is an existing support service the institution provides to assist with all technical, internet connectivity, and electronic equipment and devices on campus. MIS serves promptly to help all students, faculty, staff, and administrators with any technical difficulties. The computer labs are made available for faculty during training. Each computer lab is equipped with a smartboard to display PowerPoint presentations. All printed materials for handouts are to be provided by the Academic Affairs Office.

Potential Barriers

The potential barriers that may hinder the professional development's success are inactive participants and the training venue. Inactive participants may refuse to learn new methodologies and pedagogy because they are accustomed to traditional learning. As a solution to resolve this issue, all faculty members will share the advantages and challenges of conducting online instructions. From here, I will acknowledge their challenges and motivate them to learn new knowledge and skills to achieve a meaningful and rich online instruction experience with their students. The next barrier is securing a training venue (computer lab) to accommodate a large number of faculty members. However, I will create multiple sessions to accommodate the number of participating faculty.

Roles and Responsibilities

My role as a coordinator is to collaborate with the administrators and trainers to design the professional development tailored to the needs and main areas found in the data analysis to better prepare faculty for online instructions. In addition, I am responsible for preparing and providing all materials and resources needed for the training. I am also responsible for securing and scheduling the training dates based on the recommended dates and times from administrators to conduct the professional development on campus. Finally, I will assist the presenters by distributing handouts, timekeeping, and monitoring participants.

Implementation and Timetable

The dean of academic affairs and vice president of student services and academic affairs will receive a summary of the data findings and project study. Once they review the documents, I will arrange a meeting with the dean of academic affairs and invite all academic department chairpersons to present the research findings. Each chairperson may share their insights about the data findings. I will also highlight the need for professional development revealed and supported by the data analysis addressing specific areas. With the approval from the dean of academic affairs, I will conduct a 3-day professional development program to train all faculty to efficiently use Moodle to show online instruction and different tools of assessment.

Highly recommend professional development during faculty orientation. A documented professional development ensures the credibility of faculty members to teach online courses due to sudden emergency remote learning due to a pandemic or crisis. In addition, professional development may enhance the online teaching experiences of faculty and execute its curriculum, instruction, and assessment. The timetable of the professional development is a 3-day. Figure 1 shows the timetable.

Figure 1

3-Day Professional Development Timetable

3-Day Professional Development			
DAY 1: Navigate Moodle			
8:00-8:30am	Sign-in/Breakfast/Pick up packages	Coordinator	
8:30-9:00am	Welcome faculty, brief overview on	Coordinator	
	professional development, and introduce the		
	trainers		
9:00-9:30am	Present challenges and needs to online	Trainers	
	instructions		
9:30am-	Introduction to Moodle	Trainers	
12:30pm	Implement Moodle to instruction		
	Moodle Overview		
	Open Discussion		
12:30-1:30pm	Lunch Break	Lunch provided	
1:30-3:30pm	Hands-on:	Faculty	
	Activity 1: Login to Moodle		
	Activity 2: Create a course general display		
	Activity 3: Enroll students to course		
	Activity 4: Construct 2 weekly modules		

3:30-3:45pm	End of day 1 Wrap-up and Assessment	Coordinator
	Day 2: Online Pedagogy	1
8:00-8:30am	Welcome faculty to Day 2	Coordinator
	Introduction and Overview	
8:30-10:30am	Online Pedagogy	Trainers
	- Student learner centered	
	- Small/Large Groups	
	-Live Lecture and discussion	
	-Collaborative Learning	
10:30-10:45am	15-minute break	
10:45am-	Moodle Discussion Forum	Trainers
12:00pm	Zoom and Google Meet	
12:00-1:00pm	Lunch Break	Lunch Provided
1:00-3:30pm	Hands-on:	Faculty
	Activity 1: Create discussion question forum	
	using Moodle.	
	Activity 2: Create discussion question forum	
	using Zoom/Google Meet	
3:30-3:45pm	End of day 2	Coordinator

	Wrap-up and assessment		
Day 3: Assessments & Display			
8:00-8:30am	Welcome faculty to day 3	Coordinator	
	Introduction and Overview		
8:30-10:00am	Form of Assessments	Trainers	
	Online Examination using Moodle		
	PowerPoint Presentation Projects		
	Virtual Presentations		
	Grade Rubric		
10:00-10:15am	15-minute break		
10:15am-	Hands-on:	Trainers	
12:00pm	Activity 1: Create a short online examination		
	in Moodle.		
12:00-1:00pm	Lunch Break	Lunch Provided	
1:00-3:00	Presentation	Faculty	
	Course Display		
3:00-3:30	End of day 3 and professional development	Coordinator	
	Wrap-up and assessment		

Project Evaluation Plan

Stewart et al. (2021) defined program evaluation as a "systematic process for planning, documenting, and assessing the implementation and outcomes of a program"

(p. 1). The program evaluation's goal included successfully training all faculty to teach efficiently online, and mastering the outcomes of each professional development day. Broken down into 3 days, and the first day is the overview of Moodle. The second day is online pedagogy. Trainers will introduce different online teaching strategies using synchronous and asynchronous learning supported by Zoom and Google Meet. The final day is the assessment and display, and trainers will exemplify a variety of online assessments. Faculty will showcase their online course implementing information from Day 1 to 3.

A survey will be disseminated at the end of each professional development day. The survey consisted of measurable statements to evaluate the professional development and trainers—open-ended questions for any recommendations and concerns from participants to improve or address in the future. The summative assessment offered a method of evaluating the learners' understanding at the end of the course (Ahmed et al., 2019). The summative assessment measures each learner's knowledge of the content and ensures the professional development goals and objectives are satisfied. All surveys are anonymous to ensure confidentiality and compiled for data purposes to design future professional development. The key stakeholders for this project study are faculty members, administrators, and the Board of Higher Education. Administrators and members of the Board of Higher Education must listen to faculty's challenges, advantages, and needs and conduct instructions online. It clarifies the disconnectedness between faculty and student and faculty and administrators/board members, and the institution must provide the resources, training, and support for faculty to maximize student learning and achievement online learning environment.

Project Implications

The data analysis revealed the need for meaningful professional development that tailors to the targeted area of needs and improves faculty efficiency in conducting online instructions using Moodle. The local setting benefited from the project to satisfy institutional goals and instructional outcomes as evidence for accreditation reporting. Faculty voices about what works for them to conduct online instructions is crucial for students because faculty should be competent to teach online in order for students to learn the content using a variety of online pedagogy and utilize different assessment tools. The findings from this study may contribute to positive social change by providing educators and administrators a greater understanding of the factors and identifying skills that can improve best practices to prepare faculty transitioning to online learning. This project is important to the local stakeholders and other higher learning institutions. The study site stakeholders benefit from the project accessing information about faculty barriers to online instructions, effective planning, and evidence to justify budgeting planning to support and enhance the quality of teaching.

Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions

Project Strengths and Limitations

The 3-day professional development was the project to address the challenges and needs of faculty to successfully transition to online instruction. I guided faculty to expand their teaching methodology, implementation of technology into the curriculum, instruction, and assessment. There were two limitations to professional development. The first limitation is that the lack of participation from the attending faculty could negatively impact the overall performances and outcomes of the professional development and program evaluation results. The second limitation is the potential negative attitudes of faculty who decline to learn new knowledge and skills because of the increased workload.

Recommendations for Alternative Approaches

An alternative approach to professional development is to develop a 12-week curriculum course. The curriculum course could be designed with the same content as the professional development with assessments. It could be beneficial to faculty because of its flexibility and accommodation to self-directed learners and reduce anxiety of learning to absorb all the information in a limited time frame in a professional development program. Faculty would have to pass all assessments with a minimum score of 70%. Once faculty successfully complete the curriculum course, it would qualify them to teach online. An alternative solution to the problem could focus on the students' experiences in online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic. The alternative solution would require

all new, continuing, and returning students to complete a noncredit course or enroll in Introduction to Computers (ICT)150 during their first semester at the local study site.

Scholarship, Project Development and Evaluation, and Leadership and Change

Every starting line is different for the challenger, but there is the same goal at the end of the line. The prospectus to the proposal milestones of the doctoral journey were frustrating and challenging for me to create a cohesive and seamless research proposal with multiple rounds of denies and resubmissions before approval. This truly was a rigorous learning process to develop the project using the methodology. As an educator, I have matured into a scholar because of the doctoral experience Walden University has provided. As a researcher, I improved my scholarly writing and research skills. This was a long-life learning experience for me, and because of my credibility as a researcher and scholar, it may grant numerous opportunities for me to utilize my areas of expertise in curriculum, instruction, and assessment.

Reflection on Importance of the Work

Once I completed my data analysis and identified the deliverable as a project, the flow of work fell into place. This was my experience because of the length of time in developing the prospectus to refining the research proposal, which gave me the confidence in my research to complete the final study. The spark of interest in research accelerated after collecting and analyzing the data, urging me to make a positive change to research problems in my field of study. The important element I learned from this process is contributing to the body of literature and knowledge in my field of study and promoting social change.

Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research

The potential positive social change for educators and administrators is to understand the barriers that impact the performance of educators transitioning to online instruction in response to future crises. The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to collect and examine the experiences of XYZ faculty who transitioned their courses to online learning platforms in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. The research participants did not represent the vast majority of the different content areas to provide information on how other faculty with hands-on, labs, clinical hours, and practicum. A recommendation for future research would be to broaden the sample population criteria and outlook on student experiences of sudden emergency remote learning. A mixedmethod study would suffice to collect significant and rich data to address the research problems in future research.

Conclusion

In the COVID-19 pandemic, all levels of education have been impacted and threatened to discontinue because of the high risk of spreading a deadly virus. The research problem was the ineffective transition of courses to online platforms during the COVID-19 pandemic. A basic qualitative study was used to collect and examine the experiences of XYZ faculty who transitioned their courses to online learning platforms in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. The findings from the data analysis revealed the challenges and needs of faculty to actively and effectively engage in online instruction through professional development. Professional development can highly benefit faculty members and the institution at large. The voice of faculty members was valuable because they are in direct contact with students, and to better serve the students by supporting and providing the resources required enhancing the online teaching experience to generate high-quality education. Iglesias-Pradas et al. (2021) asserted that the COVID-19 pandemic should be treated as an opportunity to implement technology and improve digital readiness for all higher learning institutions. This project can impact positive social change for educators and administrators to redesign curriculum, instructions, and assessments by aligning to the needs of the real world in order to better prepare students to maximize learning and shape society in the future.

References

- Abdelshaheed, B. S. M. (2019). Using instructional scaffolding strategies to support oral productive language skills among English majors at Majmaah University. *Arab World English Journal*, 10(2), 88–101. <u>https://doi.org/10.24093/awej/vol10no2.8</u>
- Adam, M., & Anwar, K. (2020). Online learning amid the Covid-19 pandemic: Students' perspectives. *Journal of Pedagogical Sociology and Psychology*, 2(1), <u>https://doi/org/10.333902/JPSP.2020261309</u>
- Adedoyin, O. B., & Soykan, E. (2020). Covid-19 pandemic and online learning: The challenges and opportunities. *Interactive Learning Environments*, 1-13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2020.181318</u>
- Ahmed, F., Ali, S., & Shah, R. A. (2019). Exploring variation in summative assessment:
 Language teachers' knowledge of students' formative assessment and its effect on
 their summative assessment. *Bulletin of Education and Research*, 41(2), 109-119.
- Ahsan, M., Hussain, Z., Nawaz, S., & Naeem, M. (2021). Impact of online learning on learners' self-reported satisfaction in L2 during COVID-19: A university level scenario. *Ilkogretim Online*, 20(5), 2751–2760.

https://doi.org/10.17051/ilkonline.2021.05.300

- Ali, N., & Haider, K. (2021). Teacher professional development in Sindh through NACTE: Analytical study. *Ilkogretim Online*, 20(3), 208–215. https://doi/org/10.17051/ilkonline.2021.03.20
- Aljaraideh, Y. (2019). Massive open online learning (MOOC) benefits and challenges: A case study in Jordanian context. *International Journal of Instruction*, *12*(4), 65–

- 78.
- Al-Karaki, J. N., Ababneh, N., Hamid, Y., & Gawanmeh, A. (2021). Evaluating the effectiveness of distance learning in higher education during COVID-19 global crisis: UAE educators' perspectives. *Contemporary Educational Technology*, *13*(3), 1–16. <u>https://doi/org/10.30935/cedtech/10945</u>
- Almazova, N., Krylova, E., Rubtsova, A., & Odinokaya, M. (2020). Challenges and opportunities for Russian higher education amid COVID-19: Teachers' perspective. *Education Sciences*, 10. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci10120368</u>
- Al-Naabi, I., Kelder, J. A., & Carr, A. (2021). Preparing teachers for emergency remote teaching: A professional development framework for teachers in higher education. *Journal of University Teaching & Learning Practice*, 18(5), 4. <u>https://doi.org/10.53761/1.18.5.4</u>
- Alolaywi, Y. (2021). Teaching online during the COVID-19 pandemic: Teachers' perspectives. *Journal of Language and Linguistic Studies*, *17*(4), 2022-2045.
- Alsalamah, A., & Callinan, C. (2021). Adaptation of Kirkpatrick's four-level model of training criteria to evaluate training programmes for head teachers. *Education Sciences*, 11(3), 116. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci11030116</u>
- Asio, J. M. R., & Bayucca, S. A. (2021). Spearheading education during the COVID-19 rife: Administrators' level of digital competence and schools' readiness on distance learning. *Online Submission*, 3(1), 19–26. https://doi.org/10.33902/JPSP.2021364728

Aytaç, T. (2021). The problems faced by teachers in Turkey during the COVID-19
pandemic and their opinions. *International Journal of Progressive Education*, *17*(1), 404–420. <u>https://doi.org/10.29329/ijpe.2021.329.26</u>

- Barriball, K. L., & While, A. (1994). Collecting data using a semi-structured interview: A discussion paper. *Journal of Advanced Nursing-Institutional Subscription*, 19(2), 328-335.
- Baumgartner, L. M. (2019). Fostering transformative learning in educational settings. *Adult Literacy Education*, *1*(1), 69-74.
- Bedford, L. (2019). Using social media as a platform for a virtual professional learning community. *Online Learning Journal*, 23(3). https://doi.org/10.24059/olj.v23i3.1538
- Bitetti, L. (2019). Activate business model learning through flipped classroom and backward design. *Journal of Business Models*, 7(3), 100-110. https://doi.org/10.5278/ojs.jbm.v7i3.3137
- Bloomberg, L. D. (2020). Coaching faculty to teach online: A single qualitative case study at an online university. *International Journal of Online Graduate Education*, 3(2). https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.3906856
- Bodner, G.M. (1986). Constructivism: A theory of knowledge. *Journal of Chemical Education*, 63(10), 873-878.
- Borah, R. (2021). Blended learning and flipped learning: Challenges and opportunities for the 21st-century students to create a digital environment. *Digital Education for the 21st Century*, 235-253.

Borup, J., & Evmenova, A. S. (2019). The effectiveness of professional development in

overcoming obstacles to effective online instruction in a College of

Education. Online Learning, 23(2), 1-20. https://doi.org/10.24059/olj.v23i2.1468

- Bozkurt, A., & Sharma, R. C. (2020). Emergency remote teaching in a time of global crisis due to corona virus pandemic. *Asian Journal of Distance Education*, 15(1), i-vi.
- Burkholder, G. J., Cox, K. A., Crawford, L. M., & Hitchcock, J. H. (2019). Research design and methods. *SAGE Publications, Inc.*
- Button, L. (2021). Backward design process as a curriculum development model. *Curriculum Essentials: A Journey*.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022). How to protect yourself and others. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/prevent-getting-sick/prevention.html</u>
- Christopoulos, A., & Sprangers, P. (2021). Integration of educational technology during the Covid-19 pandemic: An analysis of teacher and student receptions. Cogent Education, 8(1), 1–27. https://doi.org/10.1080/2331186X.2021.1964690
- Colclasure, B. C., Marlier, A., Durham, M. F., Brooks, T. D., & Kerr, M. (2021).
 Identified challenges from faculty teaching at predominantly undergraduate institutions after abrupt transition to emergency remote teaching during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Education Sciences*, *11*(9), 556.
- Craig, S. L., Smith, S. J., & Frey, B. B. (2022). Professional development with universal design for learning: supporting teachers as learners to increase the implementation of UDL. *Professional Development in Education*, 48(1), 22-37. https://doi.org/10.1080/19415257.2019.1685563

- Debes, G. (2021). Distance learning in higher education during the COVID-19 pandemic: Advantages and disadvantages. *International Journal of Curriculum and Instruction*, *13*(2), 1109-1118.
- Del Favero, F. S. (2018). Using the backward design model and formative assessment to develop and refine online courses. In Conference Proceedings. *The Future of Education* (p. 67).
- De Simone, F. (2021). Competitive and collaborative strategies in game theory: the M&A as a form of collaboration: the Stellantis case.
- Dhawan, S. (2020). Online Learning: A panacea in the time of COVID-19 crisis. *Journal* of Educational Technology Systems, 49(1), 5–

22. https://doi.org/10.1177/0047239520934018

- Domínguez-Figaredo, D., Gil-Jaurena, I., & Morentin-Encina, J. (2022). The impact of rapid adoption of online assessment on students' performance and perceptions:
 Evidence from a distance learning university. *Electronic Journal of E-Learning*, 20(3), 224–241. <u>https://doi.org/10.34190/ejel.20.3.2399</u>
- Doo, M. Y., Bonk, C., & Heo, H. (2020). A meta-analysis of scaffolding effects in online learning in higher education. *International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 21(3), 60-80. https://doi.org/s10.19173/irrodl.v21i3.4638
- Dorsah, P. (2021). Pre-service teachers' readiness for emergency remote learning in the wake of covid-19. *European Journal of STEM Education*, 6(1). https://doi.org/10.20897/ejsteme/9557

- Egan, K., & Crotty, Y. (2020). Sustaining a prolonged pivot: Appraising challenges facing higher education stakeholders in switching to online learning. *International Journal for Transformative Research*, 7(1), 1–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.2478/ijtr-2020-0001</u>
- Encyclopedia Britannica. (2021). American Samoa. Retrieved from https://www.britannica.com/place/American-Samoa/History.
- Farooq, F., Rathore, F. A., & Mansoor, S. N. (2020). Challenges of online medical education in Pakistan during COVID-19 pandemic. J Coll Physicians Surg Pak, 30(6), 67-9.
- Ghazi-Saidi, L., Criffield, A., Kracl, C. L., McKelvey, M., Obasi, S. N., & Vu, P. (2020).
 Moving from face-to-face to remote instruction in a higher education institution during a pandemic: Multiple case studies. *International Journal of Technology in Education and Science*, 4(4), 370–383.
- Gillis, A., & Krull, L. M. (2020). COVID-19 remote learning transition in spring 2020: class structures, student perceptions, and inequality in college courses. *Teaching Sociology*, 48(4), 283–299. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0092055X20954263</u>
- Gómez-Rey, P., Fernández-Navarro, F., Francisco, V. D., & José, M. (2021). Identifying key variables on the way to wellbeing in the transition from face-to-face to online higher education due to COVID-19: *Evidence from the Q-Sort Technique*. *Sustainability*, 13(11), 6112. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13116112
- Goodyear, P. (2020). Design and co-configuration for hybrid learning: Theorising the practices of learning space design. *British Journal of Educational Technology*,

51(4), 1045-1060. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.12925</u>

- Grynyuk, S., Kovtun, O., Sultanova, L., Zheludenko, M., Zasluzhena, A., & Zaytseva, I.
 (2022). Distance learning during the COVID-19 Pandemic: The experience of ukraine's higher education system. *Electronic Journal of E-Learning*, 20(3), 242– 256. <u>https://doi.org/10.34190/ejel.20.3.2198</u>
- Halim, A., & Sunarti, S. (2021). Online instructional strategies for English language learning during Covid-19 pandemic: A case from a creative teacher. *JOALL* (*Journal of Applied Linguistics and Literature*), 6(1), 87-96.
 https://doi.org/10.33369/joall.v6i1.12452
- Hamza Sheerah, H. A., Yadav, M. S., Elzein Fadl Allah, M. A., & Abdin, G. J. (2022).
 Exploring teachers and students' perceptions towards emergency online learning intensive english writing course during COVID-19 Pandemic. *Arab World English Journal*, 64–84. <u>https://doi.org/10.24093/awej/covid2.5</u>
- Hansen, B. (2001). Distance learning. QR Researcher, 11(42), 1-24.
- Harting, K., & Erthal, M. (2005). History of distance learning. *Information Technology, Learning, and Performance Journal.* 23 (1), 35-44.
- Heap, T., Thompson, R., & Fein, A. (2021). Designing teacher professional development programs to support a rapid shift to digital. *Educational Technology Research & Development*, 69(1), 35–38. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-020-09863-5
- Höfrová, A., Moore de Peralta, A., Rosopa, P. J., Small, M. A., Payne, K. S., &Rymešová, P. (2021). Faculty perception of the contribution of start-up packagesto professional development. *Innovative Higher Education*, 46(4), 481–497.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10755-021-09550-0

Hontvedt, M., Silseth, K., & Wittek, L. (2021). Professional collaboration in teacher support teams—A study of teacher and nurse educators' creative problem-solving in a shared space for professional Development. *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research*, 65(2), 240–257.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00313831.2019.1665098

- Hosseini, H., Chalak, A., & Biria, R. (2019). Impact of backward design on improving iranian advanced learners' writing ability: Teachers' practices and beliefs. *International Journal of Instruction*, 12(2), 33-50.
 https://doi.org/10.29333/iji.2019.1223a
- Ibna Seraj, P. M., Chakraborty, R., Mehdi, T., & Roshid, M. M. (2022). A systematic review on pedagogical trends and assessment practices during the COVID-19 pandemic: Teachers' and students' perspectives. *Education Research International*, 1–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/1534018</u>
- Iglesias-Pradas, S., Hernández-García, Á., Chaparro-Peláez, J., & Prieto, J. L. (2021). Emergency remote teaching and students' academic performance in higher education during the COVID-19 pandemic: A case study. *Computers in human behavior*, 119, 106713. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2021.106713</u>
- Jardine, D. W. (2005). CHAPTER TWO: On the origins of constructivism. *In Piaget & Education Primer* (pp. 17–35).
- Jones, M. S., Carrigan, A. M., & Ogilvie, C. N. (2021). *The impact of a global pandemic on education* (Doctoral dissertation, Lipscomb University).

- Johnson, N., Veletsianos, G., & Seaman, J. (2020). U.S. faculty and administrators' experiences and approaches in the early weeks of the COVID-19 pandemic. *Online Learning*, 24(2), 6–21. <u>https://doi.org/10.24059/olj.v24i2.2285</u>
- Junus, K., Santoso, H. B., Putra, P. O. H., Gandhi, A., & Siswantining, T. (2021). Lecturer readiness for online classes during the Pandemic: A Survey Research. Education Sciences, 11. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci11030139</u>
- Kallou, S., & Kikilia, A. (2021). A transformative educational framework in tourism higher education through digital technologies during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Advances in Mobile Learning Educational Research*, 1(1), 37-47. https://doi.org/10.25082/AMLER.2021.01.005
- Kamble, A., Gauba, R., Desai, S., & Golhar, D. (2021). Learners' perception of the transition to instructor-led online learning environments: Facilitators and barriers during the COVID-19 pandemic. *International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 22(1), 199-215. <u>https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v22il.4971</u>
- Kasani, H. A., Mourkani, G. S., Seraji, F., Rezaeizadeh, M., & Abedi, H. (2020). Elearning challenges in iran: A research synthesis. *International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 21(4), 96–116. <u>https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v21i4.4677</u>
- Khan, S., & Khan, R. A. (2019). Online assessments: Exploring perspectives of university students. *Education and Information Technologies*, 24(1), 661-677. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-018-9797-0</u>

Kirkpatrick, J. (2007). The hidden power of kirkpatrick's four levels. T+D, 61(8), 34–37.

- Kumar, A., Krishnamurthi, R., Bhatia, S., Kaushik, K., Ahuja, N. J., Nayyar, A., & Masud, M. (2021). Blended learning tools and practices: *A Comprehensive Survey*. IEEE Access.
- Kumaraperumal, S., Pradeepa, M., & Nellaiappan, M. (2021). Educational industry challenges during COVID-19 and the role of ICT. Ilkogretim Online, 20(5), 1954–1958. <u>https://doi.org/10.17051/ilkonline.2021.05.214</u>
- Kummitha, H. R., Kolloju, N., Chittoor, P., & Madepalli, V. (2021). Coronavirus disease 2019 and its Effect on teaching and learning process in the higher educational institutions. *Higher Education for the Future*, 8(1), 90–107.
 https://doi/org/10.1177/2347631120983650
- Kurnia, R. P. (2021). A case for mezirow's transformative learning. Diligentia: Journal of Theology and Christian Education, 3(1), 73-82. https://doi.org/10.19166/dil.v3i1.2945
- Langer de Ramírez, L. (2020). Joy in the time of COVID. *Language Magazine*, 20(3), 26–29.
- Leary, H., Dopp, C., Turley, C., Cheney, M., Simmons, Z., Graham, C. R., & Hatch, R. (2020). Professional development for online teaching: A literature review. *Online Learning*, 24(4), 254-275. <u>https://doi.org/10.24059/olj.v24i4.2198</u>
- Leech, N. L., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2011). Beyond constant comparison qualitative data analysis: Using nvivo. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 26(1), 70–84.
- Lewis, N., & Bryan, V. (2021). Andragogy and teaching techniques to enhance adult learners' experience. *Journal of Nursing Education and Practice*, 11(11), 31-40.

https://doi.org/10.1037/a0022711

- Liu, Z. Y., Lomovtseva, N., & Korobeynikova, E. (2020). Online learning platforms: Reconstructing modern higher education. *International Journal of Emerging Technologies in Learning* (iJET), 15(13), 4-21.
 https://doi.org/10.3991/ijet.v15il3.14645
- Lowenthal, P., Borup, J., West, R., & Archambault, L. (2020). Thinking beyond Zoom:
 Using asynchronous video to maintain connection and engagement during the
 COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Technology and Teacher Education*, 28(2), 383-391
- Mahmood, S. (2021). Instructional strategies for online teaching in COVID-19 pandemic. *Human behavior and emerging technologies*, 3(1), 199-203. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbe2.218
- Markova, T. (2021). Educators' and students' perceptions of online distance education before and amid COVID-19: Key concerns and challenges. In SHS Web of Conferences (Vol. 99, p. 01018). EDP Sciences.
- Marshall, D. T., Shannon, D. M., & Love, S. M. (2020). How teachers experienced the COVID-19 transition to remote instruction. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 102(3), 46–50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0031721720970702</u>

Martin, L. E., Kragler, S., Quatroche, D., & Bauserman, K. (2019). Transforming Schools: The power of teachers' input in professional development. *Journal of Educational Research and Practice*, 9(1), 179-188. https://doi.org/10.5590/JERAP/2019.09.1.13 Mbandlwa, Z. (2021). The impact of the quality of education was caused by the changes from face-to-face to remote learning as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic. *Ilkogretim Online*, 20(4), 1556–1561.

https://doi.org/10.17051/ilkonline.2021.04.179

- Merriam, S. (1988), "Qualitative research and case study applications in education". San Francisco: JosseyBass.
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2016). Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation (4th ed.). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Mpungose, C. B., & Khoza, S. B. (2020). Postgraduate students' experiences on the use of Moodle and Canvas learning management system. *Technology, Knowledge and Learning*, 1-16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10758-020-09475-1</u>
- Mustafa, B., & Paçarizi, Y. (2021). Exploring teachers" perceptions of professional development: The case of Kosova. *Journal of Language and Linguistic Studies*, 17(3), 1210-1224.
- Noonan, J. (2019). An affinity for learning: Teacher identity and powerful professional development. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 70(5), 526–537.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0022487118788838

- Noor, S., Isa, F. M., & Mazhar, F. F. (2020). Online teaching practices during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Educational Process: International Journal*, 9(3), 169-184.
- Ogbonna, C. G., Ibezim, N. E., & Obi, C. A. (2019). Synchronous versus asynchronous e-Learning in teaching word processing: An experimental approach. *South African Journal of Education*, 39(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.3991/ijet.v15il3.14645</u>

- Parsons, S. A., Hutchinson, A. C., Hall, L. A., Parsons, A. W., Ives, S. T., & Leggett, A. B. (2019). U.S. teachers' perceptions of online professional development.
 Teaching and Teacher Education: *An International Journal of Research and Studies*, 82(1), 33-42. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016.j.tate.2019.03.006</u>
- Powell, C. G., & Bodur, Y. (2019). Teachers' perceptions of an online professional development experience: Implications for a design and implementation framework. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 77, 19-30.
- Powell, K., & Kalina, C. J. (2009). Cognitive and social constructivism: Developing tools for an effective classroom. Education, 130(2), 241–250.

Praslova, L. (2010). Adaptation of kirkpatrick's four level model of training criteria to assessment of learning outcomes and program evaluation in higher education. *Educational Assessment, Evaluation and Accountability*, 22(3), 215–225. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11092-010-9098-7

- Priyadarshani, H. D. C., & Jesuiya, D. (2021). Teacher's perception on online teaching method during COVID-19: With reference to school level teachers at faculty of education, the open university of sri lanka. *Shanlax International Journal of Education*, 9(2), 132–140. <u>https://doi.org/10.34293/education.v9i2.3662</u>
- Ramani, S. (2022). A learning mindset needed from faculty in online program management and university partnership business model. *Electronic Journal of E-Learning*, 20(2), 134–150. <u>https://doi.org/10.34190/ejel.20.2.2063</u>
- Ramos, V. F., Cechinel, C., Magé, L., & Lemos, R. (2021). Student and lecturer perceptions of usability of the virtual programming lab module for

moodle. Informatics in Education, 20(2), 297-315.

- Redman, D., & Perry, D. (2020). Graduate-level online instruction: changes in faculty perceptions from 2002, 2007, and 2016. *Journal of Educators Online*, 17(2).
- Rubin, H. J., & Rubin, I. S. (2011). Qualitative Interviewing: The art of hearing data (3rd Edition). SAGE Publications, Inc. (US).
- Saleem, A., Gul, R., & Dogar, A. A. (2021). Effectiveness Of Continuous Professional Development Program As Perceived By Primary Level Teachers. *Ilkogretim Online*, 20(3).
- Sancar, R., Atal, D., & Deryakulu, D. (2021). A new framework for teachers' professional development. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 101, 103305. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2021.103305</u>
- Schnepfleitner, F. M., & Ferreira, M. P. (2021). Transformative learning theory is it time to add a fourth core element? *Journal of Educational Studies and Multidisciplinary Approaches* (JESMA), 1(1), 40-49. <u>https://doi.org/10.51383/jesma.2021.9</u>
- Scutelnicu, G., Tekula, R., Gordon, B., & Knepper, H. J. (2019). Consistency is key in online learning: Evaluating student and instructor perceptions of a collaborative online-course template. *Teaching Public Administration*, 37(3), 274–292. https://doi.org/1177/0144739419852759
- Seiuli, E. T. (2020). The use of technology to improve the curriculum design for faculty (Order No. 28412675). *ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global*. (2529958057).
- Serhan, D. (2020). Transitioning from face-to-face to remote learning: Students' attitudes

and perceptions of using zoom during COVID-19 pandemic. *International Journal of Technology in Education and Science*, 4(4), 335–342.

- Shagiakhmetova, M. N., Bystritskaya, E. V., Demir, S., Stepanov, R. A., Grishnova, E. E., & Kryukova, N. I. (2022). Primary teachers difficulties related to compulsory distance education during COVID-19. *Contemporary Educational Technology*, 14(2), ep357. <u>https://doi.org/10.30935/cedtech/11589</u>
- Sharadgah, T. A., & Sa'di, R. A. (2020). Preparedness of institutions of higher education for assessment in virtual learning environments during the COVID-19 lockdown:
 Evidence of bona fide challenges and pragmatic solutions. *Journal of Information Technology Education*: Research, 19, 755–774. <u>https://doi.org/10.28945/4615</u>
- Sim, S. P.-L., Sim, H. P.-K., & Quah, C.-S. (2020). Online Learning: A post COVID-19 alternative pedagogy for university students. *Asian Journal of University Education*, 16(4), 137–151.
- Sónia, R. S., Jesus-Silva, N., Cardoso, A., & Moreira, F. (2021). EU27 higher education institutions and COVID-19, year 2020. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(11), 5963.

https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18115963

- Stemler, S. E. (2015). Content analysis. *Emerging trends in the social and behavioral sciences: An Interdisciplinary, Searchable, and Linkable Resource*, 1-14.
- Stewart, J., Joyce, J., Haines, M., Yanoski, D., Gagnon, D., Luke, K., Rhoads, C., & Germeroth, C. (2021). National center for education evaluation and regional assistance (NCEE) (ED/IES), regional educational laboratory central (ED/IES), &

marzano research. (2021). Program Evaluation Toolkit: Quick Start Guide. REL 2022-112. Regional Educational Laboratory Central.

Tafazoli, D. (2021). CALL teachers' professional development amid the COVID-19 outbreak: A qualitative study. Call-Ej, 22(2), 4-13.

Tartavulea, C. V., Albu, C. N., Albu, N., Dieaconescu, R. I., & Petre, S. (2020). Online teaching practices and the effectiveness of the educational process in the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic. *Amfiteatru Economic*, 22(55), 920-936. https://doi.org/10.24818/EA/2020/55/920

- Tracy, S. J. (2010). Qualitative quality: Eight "big-tent" criteria for excellent qualitative research. *Qualitative inquiry*, 16(10), 837-851. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800410383121
- Tsimane, T. A., & Downing, C. (2020). Transformative learning in nursing education: A concept analysis. *International Journal of Nursing Sciences*, 7(1), 91-98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnss.2019/12/006
- Ugwuozor, F. O., & Hui, S. K. F. (2020). Constructivism as pedagogical framework and poetry learning outcomes among Nigerian students: An experimental study.
 Cogent Education, 7(1), 1–23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/2331186X.2020.1818410</u>
- Valencia-Vallejo, N., López-Vargas, O., & Sanabria-Rodríguez, L. (2018). Effect of motivational scaffolding on e-learning environments: Self-Efficacy, learning achievement, and cognitive Style. *Journal of educators online*, 15(1), n1.
- Wahid, R., Farooq, O., & Aziz, A. (2021). The New Normal: Online classes and assessments during the COVID-19 outbreak. *Journal of e-Learning and*

Knowledge Society, 17(2), 85-96. <u>https://doi.org/10.20368/1971-8829/1135346</u>

- Walford, G. (2020). Ethnography is not qualitative. Ethnography & Education, 15(1), 122–135. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17457823.2018.1540308</u>
- World Health Organization. (2020) Modes of transmission of virus causing COVID-19: Implications for IPC precaution recommendations.
- Yurtseven Avci, Z., O'Dwyer, L. M., & Lawson, J. (2020). Designing effective professional development for technology integration in schools. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 36(2), 160-177. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jcal.12394</u>
- Zalavra, E., & Makri, K. (2022). Relocating online a technology-enhanced microteaching practice in teacher education: Challenges and implications. *Electronic Journal of E-Learning*, 20(3), 270–283. <u>https://doi.org/10.34190/ejel.20.3.2180</u>
- Zaleha Abdullah, & Mohd Nihra Haruzuan Mohamad Said. (2022). Engaging and empowering malaysian students through open and distance learning in the post-COVID era. *Frontiers in Education*, 7. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2022.853796</u>
- Zhang, Y., Ghandour, A., & Shestak, V. (2020). Using learning analytics to predict students performance in moodle LMS. *International Journal of Emerging Technologies in Learning*, 15(20), 102–115.
 https://doi.org/10.3991/ijet.v15i20.15915
- Zhou, L., Wu, S., Zhou, M., & Li, F. (2020). 'School's out, but class' on', the largest online education in the world today: Taking china's practical exploration during the COVID-19 epidemic prevention and control as an example. *Best Evid Chin Edu*, 4(2), 501-519. <u>https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3555520</u>

- Zhu, M., Bonk, C. J., & Berri, S. (2022). Fostering self-directed learning in MOOCs: motivation, learning strategies, and instruction. *Online Learning*, 26(1).
- Ziegenfuss, D. H., & LeMire, S. (2020). Information literacy and instruction: Backward design: A must-have library instructional design strategy for your pedagogical and teaching toolbox. *Reference & user services quarterly*, 59(2), 107-112. <u>https://doi.org/10.5860/rusq.59.2.7275</u>

Appendix A: The Project

The appendix provides an overview of the 3-day professional development project. The selection of the project deliverable was supported by the research data analysis. The research problem addressed in this study was the ineffective transition of courses to online platforms during the COVID-19 pandemic. The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to collect and examine the experiences of XYZ faculty who transitioned their courses to online learning platforms in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. The professional development was designed for college-level faculty to acquire the knowledge and skills to transition courses online using Moodle effectively.

The professional development was categorized into a 3-day training. The implementation date of the project was recommended during regular semester faculty orientation before instruction begins or alternative dates approved by institutional administrators. The goals of the professional development are as follow:

1). Understand the purpose and use of Moodle and different methods of online instruction

and assessments.

2). Create an online course applying the different methods of online instruction and assessments.

Target Audience

The targeted audience for the professional development is faculty (full-time and adjunct faculty members). The professional development aims to maximize 3 days of constructive and beneficial training featuring discussions, group activities, and hands-on.

Materials and Equipment

- Computer lab
- Smart Board
- Desktops/laptops
- Projector
- Handout booklet (includes daily agenda and PPT enlarged images)
- Writing note pad
- Pens
- Highlighters

3-Day Professional Development			
DAY 1: Navigate Moodle			
8:00-8:30am	Sign-in/Breakfast/Pick up packages	Coordinator	
8:30-9:00am	Welcome faculty, brief overview on	Coordinator	
	professional development, and introduce the		
	trainers		
9:00-9:30am	Present challenges and needs to online	Trainers	
	instructions		
9:30am-	Introduction to Moodle	Trainers	
12:30pm	Implement Moodle to instruction		
	Moodle Overview		
	Open Discussion		
12:30-1:30pm	Lunch Break	Lunch provided	
1:30-3:30pm	Hands-on:	Faculty	
-	Activity 1: Login to Moodle		
	Activity 2: Create a course general display		
	Activity 3: Enroll students to course		
	Activity 4: Construct 2 weekly modules		
3:30-3:45pm	End of Day 1 Wrap-up and Assessment	Coordinator	
Day 2: Online Pedagogy			
8:00-8:30am	Welcome faculty to Day 2	Coordinator	
	Introduction and Overview		
8:30-10:30am	Online Pedagogy	Trainers	
	- Student learner centered		
	- Small/Large Groups		
	-Live Lecture and discussion		
10.20 10.45 am	-Conadorative Learning		
10:30-10:45am	Moodle Discussion Forum	Trainara	
10.43am- 12:00pm	Zoom and Google Meet	Trainers	
12.00pm			
12:00-1:00pm	Lunch Break	Lunch Provided	
1:00-3:30pm	Hands-on:	Faculty	
	Activity 1: Create discussion question forum		
	using Moodle.		
	Activity 2: Create discussion question forum		
	using Zoom/Google Meet		
3:30-3:45pm	End of Day 2	Coordinator	
	Wrap-up and assessment		

Day 3: Assessments & Display			
8:00-8:30am	Welcome faculty to day 3	Coordinator	
	Introduction and Overview		
8:30-10:00am	Form of Assessments	Trainers	
	Online Examination using Moodle		
	PowerPoint Presentation Projects		
	Virtual Presentations		
	Grade Rubric		
10:00-10:15am	15-minute break		
10:15am-	Hands-on:	Trainers	
12:00pm	Activity 1: Create a short online examination		
	in Moodle.		
12:00-1:00pm	Lunch Break	Lunch Provided	
1:00-3:00	Presentation	Faculty	
	Course Display		
3:00-3:30	End of Day 3 and professional development	Coordinator	
	Wrap-up and assessment		

Appendix B: The PowerPoint



















DAY 2: ONLINE PEDAGOGY

DIFFERENT LEARNING

- Asynchronous
 - Learning occurs at different times
 - Self-paced

- Synchronous
 - Learning occurs at the same time
 - Requires virtual presence of instructor and students at a specific time

ASYNCHRONOUS LEARNING METHODS

- Recorded lectures and webinars
- Upload reading materials and media clips
- Discussion forums and responses

ASYNCHRONOUS LEARNING METHODS

- Live zoom meeting or google meet
- Breakout rooms in zoom
- Live discussions and presentation
- Screen sharing









COMMON ONLINE ASSESSMENT METHODS

- Online quizzes & exams
- Essay questions
- Online interviewsActive activities or games
- Online forums
- Online polls

15 MINUTE BREAK

15 minute break






Appendix C: The Activity Sheets

Day 1: Activity Sheet

Introduction

Time: 5 minutes

The purpose of these activities is to familiarize and engage faculty in using Moodle as a resource to instruction and assessment. Learn how to design a course layout in Moodle and maximize its features.

Objectives

- a. Use institution credentials to successfully login to Moodle.
- b. Formulate a course general display.
- c. Enroll students to the course.
- d. Create 2 weekly modules from tentative course outline from course syllabus.

Materials:

- Desktop
- Internet
- Course syllabus (retrieved from Academic Office per instructors' content course)
- Class roster

Activity 1: login to Moodle

Time: 10 minutes

Each faculty received their login credentials from MIS. After successful login to Moodle each faculty must search and select their course that matches with the course syllabus provided in the handouts. Trainers will check each faculty before proceeding to the next activity.

Activity 2: Create course layout

Time: 30 minutes

The trainers will display a course layout example from the smartboard and explain all the required information in general display. Each faculty will review their course syllabus to identify general course information to display. Once identified information, faculty must enable the edit feature of Moodle to input the course information for display. A question-and-answer session in between to provide clarification. Trainers will assist faculty to address any issues and provide further assistance. Trainers will check each faculty before proceeding to the next activity.

Activity 3: Enroll students to class

Time: 30 minutes

Inside the handouts, a class roster is provided for faculty to enroll into the course. Trainers will demonstrate how to search and enroll students into course. A questionand-answer session to address any concerns from faculty before heading to activity. Faculty must select menu, click on participants to search and enroll students to the course. Trainers will assist faculty for additional instructions. Trainers will check each faculty before proceeding to the next activity.

15-minute break

Activity 4: Create 2 weekly modules labels

Time: 1 hour

Trainers will display and demonstrate how to construct a weekly module or weekly assignments labels. A question-and-answer session will follow to address faculty concerns and clarifications. Faculty must enable the edit feature in Moodle to create labels to categorize resources, assignments, etc....Trainers will monitor faculty and provide further assistance. All faculty must complete the final activity for day 1.

End of Day 1 Activities

Day 2: Activity Sheet

Introduction

Time: 5 minutes

Day 2 activities, faculty will gain knowledge in deploying synchronous and asynchronous learning using Moodle, Zoom, and Google Meet.

Objectives

- a. Create a discussion question forum in Moodle.
- b. Create discussion using Zoom and Google Meet.

Materials:

- Desktop
- Internet
- Course syllabus (retrieved from Academic Office per instructors' content course)

Activity 1: Create a discussion forum using synchronous learning.

Time: 1 hour

Trainers will display and demonstrate how to create an online discussion forum in Moodle guided by synchronous learning. A question-and-answer session will follow to accommodate faculty concerns. Each faculty will create a brief online discussion reflecting an assignment or reading content from the first or second week of instruction from their course outline from the syllabus. Trainers will check each faculty before proceeding to the next activity.

Activity 2: Create a discussion forum using asynchronous learning.

Time: 1 hour

Trainers will display and demonstrate how to create an online discussion forum in Moodle guided by asynchronous learning. A question-and-answer session will follow to accommodate faculty concerns. Each faculty will create a brief online discussion reflecting an assignment or reading content from the first or second week of instruction from their course outline from the syllabus. Trainers will check each faculty before proceeding to the next activity.

Day 3: Activity Sheet

Introduction

Time: 5 minutes

The first activity focuses on online assessments to assess student learning. Online examinations and projects are recommended for online assessments. These assessments prevent students from cheating. The last activity requires all faculty to present their course layout by applying all information from day 1 to 3 activities.

Objectives

- a. Formulate a short online examination in Moodle.
- b. Successfully designed course layout.

Materials:

- Desktop
- Internet
- Course syllabus (retrieved from Academic Office per instructors' content course)

Activity 1: Create a brief online examination.

Time: 1 hour

Trainers will display and demonstrate how to create an online examination in Moodle guided by asynchronous or synchronous learning. A question-and-answer session will follow to accommodate faculty concerns. Each faculty will create an online examination to assess student learning reflecting a module. Trainers will check each faculty before proceeding to the final activity.

Activity 2: Faculty presentation on course layout

Time: 2 hours

Faculty will present their course layout with the general information, selective online pedagogy and assessment.

Once faculty successfully complete the final activity, they will receive a certificate of completion in completing the professional development.

End of day 3

Appendix D: Project Evaluation

Name of Trainer(s):

Date:

	Strongly Disagree	Somewhat Disagree	Neither Agree nor disagree	Somewhat Agree	Strongly Agree
The content was relevant to my job as an instructor.	1	2	3	4	5
The content improved my understanding and knowledge to transition courses to Moodle.	1	2	3	4	5
The content prepared me with sufficient knowledge, skills, and practices to teach online.	1	2	3	4	5
The content improved and enhanced my online teaching methods.	1	2	3	4	5